
 

COMMUNITY BOARD NO.  2,  MANHATTAN 
3  WASHINGTON SQUARE V ILLAGE  

NEW YORK ,  NY  10012-1899 
w w w . c b 2 m a n h a t t a n . o r g  

P :  212-979-2272  F :  212-254-5102  E :  info@cb2manhattan.org 
Greenwich Village   v    Little Italy   v    SoHo   v    NoHo   v   Hudson Square   v    Chinatown    v    Gansevoort Market 

 

Jeannine Kiely, Chair 
Susan Kent, 1st Vice Chair 
Valerie De La Rosa, 2nd Vice Chair 
Mark Diller, District Manager 

Antony Wong, Treasurer 
Eugene Yoo, Secretary 

Ritu Chattree, Assistant Secretary 

FULL BOARD MEETING AGENDA 
 

 
DATE:  Thursday, February 16, 2023 
TIME: 6:30 PM 
PLACE: Via Video-Conference  
 

I. ATTENDANCE 
 
II. PUBLIC SESSION: Members of the community may speak for a time to be specified by the Board Chair 

on any issue of interest to the community. *Virtual Public Speaker’s cards must have been submitted 
before 5:00 p.m. to info@cb2manhattan.org  Written correspondence received in lieu of spoken testimony 
will be summaraized. 

 
 

III. ADOPTION OF AGENDA 
 
IV. REPORTS TO THE PUBLIC  
 

1. Elected Officials’ Reports  
2. Borough President’s Report Andrew Chang 
3. Chair's Report Jeannine Kiely 
4. District Manager’s Report Mark Diller 
5. Treasurer’s Report Antony Wong 

 
BUSINESS SESSION 

V.  APPROVAL OF THE JANUARY MINUTES 

VI.       ELECTION OF OFFICERS (Nomination of Officers and Test-Run of November Election) 

VII. STANDING COMMITTEE REPORTS AND OTHER BUSINESS 

1. Traffic & Transportation Shirley Secunda 
2. SLA Licensing Robert Ely/Donna Raftery 
3. Landmarks Chenault Spence 
4. Quality of Life  William Benesh 
5. Human Services Susanna Aaron 
6. Arts & Institutions (Metronome Letter) Ivy Kwan Arce 
7. Schools & Education Patricia Laraia 
8. Parks & Waterfront Rich Caccapollo 
9. Cannabis Licensing Mar Fitzgerald 

 
VIII. NEW BUSINESS 
 
VIIII. ADJOURNMENT 



DRAFT 
 

 March  2023  

Sun Mon Tue Wed Thu Fri Sat 
   1  

6:30 pm Joint Meeting: TRAFFIC 
& TRANSPORTATION and 
PARKS & WATERFRONT 

2  
 

3  
 

4  
 

5  
 

6  
6:30 pm QUALITY OF LIFE 
 
 

7  
6:30 pm SLA 1 

8  
6:30 pm LAND USE & 
HOUSING 

9  
6:30 pm SLA 2 
 
 

10  
 

11  
 

12 Daylight Saving Begins 
 

13  
6:30 pm SCHOOLS & 
EDUCATION 

14  
 

15  
6:30 pm EQUITY, RACE & 
JUSTICE   

16  
6:30 pm LANDMARKS 1 

17 St Patrick's Day 
 

18  
 

19  
 

20  
6:30 pm LANDMARKS  2 (if 
needed) 

21  
6:30 pm EXECUTIVE 

22  
 

23  
6:30 pm FULL BOARD 

24  
 

25  
 

26  
 

27  
6 pm BYLAWS WORKING 
GROUP 

28  
6:30 pm HUMAN SERVICES 

29  
6:30 pm ECONOMIC 
DEVELOPMENT & SMALL 
BUSINESS 

30  
6:30 pm ARTS & 
INSTITUTIONS 

31  
 

 

 



 

COMMUNITY BOARD NO.  2,  MANHATTAN 
3  WASHINGTON SQUARE V ILLAGE  

NEW YORK ,  NY  10012-1899 
w w w . c b 2 m a n h a t t a n . o r g  

P :  212-979-2272  F :  212-254-5102  E :  info@cb2manhattan.org 
Greenwich Village   v    Little Italy   v    SoHo   v    NoHo   v   Hudson Square   v    Chinatown    v    Gansevoort Market 

 

 
Traffic and Transportation – page 1 of 5 

 

Jeannine Kiely, Chair 
Susan Kent, First Vice Chair 
Valerie De La Rosa, Second Vice Chair 
Mark Diller, District Manager 

Antony Wong, Treasurer 
Amy Brenna, Secretary 

Ritu Chattree, Assistant Secretary 

TRAFFIC AND TRANSPORTATION COMMITTEE 
          

February 2023 
 

The Traffic and Transportation Committee of Community Board #2, Manhattan held its monthly 
meeting on Wednesday, February 1, 2023, at 6:00 p.m. via Video Conference. 
 
Board Members Present:  Shirley Secunda (Chair), Amy Brenna, Natasha Avanessians, Janet 
Liff, Daniel Miller (Vice Chair), Lois Rakoff, Antony Wong, Adam Zeldin.  
 
Board Members Absent with notification:   
  
Board Members Absent:    
     
Public Members Present:  Joseph Flahaven, George Haikalis.  
 
Public Members Absent with notification:   
 
Public Members Absent:   
 
Other Board Members Present: Jeannine Kiely (CB2 Chair), Carter Booth, Valerie De La 
Rosa, Stella Fitzgerald, Ryder Kessler, Michael Levine, Carter Booth, Donna Raftery, Mark 
Diller (CB2 District Manager), Eva Mai (CB2 Community Assistant). 
 
Guests: Nicole Barth (Council Member Bottcher), Sindhu Bharadwaj (NYC Comptroller 
Lander), Caroline Wekselbaum (NYS Senator Hoylman-Sigal), Roy Ruiz (Assembly Member 
Glick), Phil Corso, Ken Coughlin, Sean Coughlin, Pete Davies, Andrew Dickinson, David Paul 
Gerber, Katherine Gross, Gersh Kuntzman (Streetsblog), Darlene Lutz (1st Pct Comm Council), 
Eden Miller, Sommer Omar, Andrea Pedersen, Will Proctor, Aima Raza, Jeffrey Rowland, 
Matthew Sedacca, Kevin Snyder, Angela Stach, P. Stewart, Zack Winestine, Howard Yaruss. 
 
MEETING REPORT: (A Panel Discussion was held) 
Panel Discussion - Obscured License Plates: prolific, dangerous, costly and unenforced. 
How can we bring the offenders to justice? 
Panelists: Brad Lander, NYC Comptroller; Erik Bottcher, NYC Council Member (District 3);  
Brad Hoylman-Sigal, NYS Senator (47th District); Sgt. Michael Corrado, NYPD 1st Precinct 
NCO Supervisor; Sgt. Joel Mottola, NYPD 5th Precinct NCO Supervisor. 



 
 

  
Traffic and Transportation – page 2 of 5 

Overview: Adam White, Vaccaro & White, attorneys 
 
The panel discussion addressed the ever-increasing problem of drivers obscuring their license 
plates to avoid being caught on speed and red light cameras speeding, running red lights, parking 
illegally or going through tolls and penalized for their offenses.  Adam White, an attorney whose 
practice concentrates on pedestrian and cyclist injuries and is very familiar with this problem, 
framed the conversation, describing how offenders obscure their plates with covers, scraping off 
paint, spray painting, using handwritten paper plates, and retracting license plates.  He has called 
311, but it doesn't help.  He said this undermines NYC's Reckless Driver Accountability Act and 
he's concerned about the lack of enforcement.  
 
NYC Councilmember Erik Bottcher indicated that he has introduced a bill that would require 
DOT to post all the data of unreadable license plates from speed and red light cameras every 
single month (right now, to get this information, a FOIL request is needed - the legislation would 
require it to be posted proactively and regularly).  This will help to fully understand the issue, the 
trend lines, if things are working or not and what we need to do better, to help tackle the issue. 
 
NYC Comptroller Brad Lander said people obscure license plates to be able to speed past speed 
cameras and run red light cameras with impunity.  He was concerned that when congestion 
pricing goes into effect, scofflaws could avoid paying congestion pricing charges by obscuring 
plates.  He cited data from DOT from 03/2020 to 04/2022 showing that up to 1.5 million 
incidents were reported, and that 4% of vehicles are now either speeding or running red lights 
and not being ticketed, representing a $75,000,000 loss.  He noted the evidence is clear that 
speed cameras get drivers to slow down and red light cameras get drivers not to run red lights - 
since speed cameras were turned on 24/7 last August, violations have dropped by nearly1/3rd 
(showing how important it is to stop the evasion of camera documentation by obscuring license 
plates).  He said that NYC's dangerous vehicle abatement program (run by the sheriff's office) 
requires taking a (safety) course if you're in that top group of most reckless drivers based on 
speeding or running red lights (shown by cameras). If you don't take that course, the sheriff 
could impound your car.  If you run red lights and speed, your license could be suspended, but 
only the State can do that. Not the City.  He emphasized that we need to bring together people at 
City and State level to address gaps in reckless driver enforcement. 
 
NYS Senator Brad Hoylman-Sigal announced that NYS Governor Hochul has proposed in her 
budget address to allow the State Dept. of Motor Vehicles and law enforcement to go after those 
who purposefully obstruct their license plates in order to avoid paying fines and confiscate 
materials that prevent collection. He's co-sponsoring with Senator Gounardes (pending in 
Albany) legislation directing municipalities to create a program for bystander reporting of 
obstructed, stolen, false or fraudulent license plates.  Bystanders would receive 25% of the 
proceeds of fines.  Fines for illegally obstructing plates are up to $300. He thought perhaps it 
should be more than that and asked for the community's input.  He pointed out that we want to 
turn around 75 million to 100 million dollars in lost revenue. In addition, he said, violations 
related to stolen and false license plates would be misdemeanors for the first offenses and class E 
felonies for the second or subsequent offenses.  
 
 Sgt. Michael Corrado, NYPD 1st Precinct said their traffic safety officers are out there every 
day, targeting vehicles and year-to-date have issued 29 summons for obstructed plates, plate 
covers and missing plates. If speed camera captures, they notify (send summons) by mail. They 



 
 

  
Traffic and Transportation – page 3 of 5 

could confiscate the vehicle for which the offender must pay a fine to get back.  He indicated that 
often vehicles with obscured or fake plates are hiding other illegal activities. 
 
Sgt. Joel Mottola, NYPD 5th Precinct said their public safety officers (in unmarked cars) canvas 
the area every day; the target audience is plate obstruction, temporary plates and fake plates. The 
past year they made 40 arrests for fake plates and issued 40 summonses for obscured plates. 
They often catch drugs, guns, knives, other things too (along with plate obstruction). So it's not 
even just the fake plates; it's catching other crimes. Integrity Control lieutenants oversee all 
officers cars; if an officer has a defaced plate, a Command Discipline is issued, and he loses a 
vacation day.  
 
Both NYPD sgts. recommended regular attendance at Community Precinct Council meetings and 
Build the Block meetings.  They said the best way for citizens to report is via Twitter or to call 
311 (although others at the meeting said 311 doesn't help). They indicated it's difficult to nail 
offenses down with moving cars - if they can get there in time, they can take action (there's a 
delay in both 911 and 311 systems). 
 
Suggestions from those in attendance included: When a camera can't issue a ticket or take a toll, 
an alarm should go off and the car can be pulled over immediately; Automatically tow offenders 
(NYS has the right); Increase penalties (make them very high); Allow citizens to report; The 
sheriff's office currently has a fleet of cars roaming the City, calling in violations - perhaps they 
could ID defaced plates; Coordinate info btw. MTA and DOT to better understand the problem 
and the true cost; More intensive enforcement; Create a special unit to address these issues; 
Stricter disciplinary measures for enforcers committing the offenses themselves; Explore 
possibilities for built-in technologies and/or design that physically deter tampering with license 
plates and/or use technological methods to identify vehicles. 
 
The session closed with encouragement to all present and CB2 and community members in 
general to take photos around their local precincts and beyond and send them to the CB2 office 
(madiller@cb.nyc.gov) which will document them.  This will help highlight the problem. 
 
RESOLUTIONS: 
Resolution in response to panel discussion of experts addressing obscured license plates 
and their impact on the loss of revenue due to their evasion of red light cameras, speed 
cameras and tolls, the dangers vehicles with obscured license plates pose to public safety, 
and the lack of sufficient enforcement. 
Whereas the practice of drivers obscuring license plates to avoid being caught by red light and 
speed cameras when they speed, run red lights and tolls is proliferating in the NYC area, greatly 
endangering all people on the street and, as reported by local representatives, have cost tax 
payers millions of dollars (NYC Dept. of Transportation (DOT) data March 2020-April 2022: 
1.5 million obscured license plate incidents reported; by 2021 up to 4% of vehicles evading 
cameras representing a $75,000,000 loss); and 
Whereas offenders obscure license plates in many different ways, among them, by scraping off 
paint, with covers or objects, with spray paint, by retracting license plates, by forging fake plates 
and by using false paper substitutes for the real plates; and 
Whereas fines for illegally obstructed license plates are as little as $65 with a maximum up to 
$300, resulting in $75 to $100 million a year in lost revenue; and, 



 
 

  
Traffic and Transportation – page 4 of 5 

Whereas intentionally obscured plates undermine the Reckless Driver Accountability Act that is 
designed to penalize reckless drivers with 15 or more camera-issued speeding tickets or five red-
light tickets and keep them and their vehicles off NYC streets; and 
Whereas it is illegal to buy or sell devices that obscure license plates (Amazon is no longer 
allowed to sell obscured plates shipped to NY addresses) yet it remains possible to buy them in 
stores and online if shipped out of state; and 
Whereas when congestion pricing goes into effect, scofflaws would look to avoid paying tolls 
by obscuring their license plates, leading to a reduction of the revenue that congestion pricing is 
designed to raise and less impact on its aim to lower congestion; and 
Whereas it has been established that drivers obscuring their plates are known to be the most 
egregious offenders when it comes to reckless driving that can lead to serious if not fatal injuries; 
and 
Whereas the 1st and 5th Precinct of the NYPD say they are actively targeting vehicles with 
obscured plates and finding that this leads to additional criminal charges as many drivers caught 
with obscured license plates are found and charged with illegal possession of guns, knives, 
drugs, and other contraband; and 
Whereas license plates are regulated by the State of New York which complicates NYPD’s 
ability to impound parked cars with obscured license plates; and 
Whereas areas around police precincts are known to have one of the highest ratios of parked 
cars with obscured license plates; and, 
Whereas NYPD enforces its own officers with obscured license plates offenses under the rule of 
Command Discipline, penalizing those officers who own cars with obscured plates by taking 
away vacation days, as opposed to issuing fines that can be tracked with the payment of a 
summons; and 
Whereas NYS Governor Kathy Hochul has proposed legislation in her FY 2024 Executive 
Budget that will authorize law enforcement and the Department of Motor Vehicles to levy 
increased penalties on drivers whose license plates are knowingly altered to make them 
unreadable in photographs, including increased fines and registration denials. The law will also 
enable law enforcement to seize materials affixed to license plates that are designed to prevent 
them from being read by speed and toll collection cameras; and 
Whereas NYS Senators Brad Hoylman-Sigal and Andrew Gounardes will be reintroducing 
legislation by Senator Gounardes from the 2021-2022 NYS Legislative Session to the current 
NYS Legislative Session that would direct municipalities to create a program for bystander 
reporting of stolen, false or fraudulent license plates; and 
Whereas NYC Council Member Erik Bottcher introduced a bill at the NYC Council Legislative 
Session in 2022, to be re-introduced at the Council's 2023 Legislative Session, to require the 
NYC Department of Transportation (DOT) to report monthly on evasion of red-light cameras or 
school speed cameras by motor vehicles with unreadable license plates; 
Therefore be it resolved that CB2 strongly supports Governor Hochul's proposal to increase 
fines on drivers who obscure their license plates and calls upon the NY State legislature to 
support and speedily pass this legislation; and 
Be it further resolved that CB2 strongly supports reintroduction at this current NY State 
legislative session of State Senator Gounardes' 2021-2022 bill formalizing a public reporting 
process for obscured license plates, which now will be co-sponsored by State Senators 



 
 

  
Traffic and Transportation – page 5 of 5 

Gounardes and Hoylman-Sigal, and calls upon the NY State Legislature, when this bill is 
reintroduced, to pass the bill as soon as possible; and 
Be it further resolved that CB2 agrees that the fine for obscuring a license plate should be 
severe, whether ticketed in motion or parked, with a minimum fine set in the hundreds of dollars 
with the option to impound the vehicle; and 
Be it further resolved that CB2 strongly supports NYC Council Member Bottcher's bill 
mandating DOT to report on speed and red-light camera evasions and urges that it be quickly 
brought to the Council's Transportation Committee and approved and to the full NYC Council to 
review and swiftly vote passage; and 
Be it further resolved that CB2 recommends stricter disciplinary measures for police officers 
caught with obscured license plates, and proposes that NYPD offenders be handed the same 
punishment as other citizens, rather than subtracting vacation days, which is more difficult to 
audit; and 
Be it finally resolved that CB2 urges New York City and New York State to research and 
institute as soon as possible new technology to replace license plates as visual identifiers, 
creating license plates with new technology that would make toll evasion, red light camera 
running and speeding more difficult to hide. 
Vote:  Unanimous in favor. 

 
Respectfully submitted, 

 
Shirley Secunda, Chair 
Traffic and Transportation Committee  
Community Board #2, Manhattan 
 
 
 



 

COMMUNITY BOARD NO.  2,  MANHATTAN 
3  WASHINGTON SQUARE V ILLAGE  

NEW YORK ,  NY  10012-1899 
w w w . c b 2 m a n h a t t a n . o r g  

P :  212-979-2272  F :  212-254-5102  E :  info@cb2manhattan.org 
Greenwich Village   v    Little Italy   v    SoHo   v    NoHo   v   Hudson Square   v    Chinatown    v    Gansevoort Market 

 

SLA1 Licensing – Page 1 of 13 

Jeannine Kiely, Chair 
Susan Kent, First Vice Chair 
Valerie De La Rosa, Second Vice Chair 
Mark Diller, District Manager 
 

Antony Wong, Treasurer 
Amy Brenna, Secretary 

Ritu Chattree, Assistant Secretary 

SLA LICENSING COMMITTEE 1 
 

 
The SLA Licensing Committee #1 of Community Board 2, Manhattan, held a meeting at 6:30PM 
on Tuesday, February 7, 2023 via Video Conference. 

Committee Board Members Present: D. Raftery (Co-Chair), R. Ely (Co-Chair), C. Booth, 
P. Laraia L. Rakoff, Dr. S. Smith (late with notice) and S. Wittenberg  
Committee Board Members Absent with Notice: C. Flynn, A. Wong 
Other Board Members Present: B. Pape 
 
 
RESOLUTIONS: 
 
1. 13 Sullivan Gents LLC d/b/a No 142, 142 Sullivan Street, North Storefront 10012 

(Existing TW–Bar/Tavern, SN#1286543 alteration to add storage warehouse to premises) 
 
i. Whereas, this application is for an alteration to an existing Tavern Wine License 

(SN#1286543, exp. 7/31/23) to add a storage warehouse space located in the adjacent 
basement to their currently licensed premises. In the past, the licensee had been paying for a 
warehouse license/renewal every three years for that basement space. Instead of the business 
being charged a constant fee for a warehouse license, the owners are looking to formally add 
the space onto their license. 

 
ii. Whereas, this request comes due to the recent SLA Advisory #2022-20 approved by the 

Members of the Authority on August 31, 2022 that allowed for an adjacent space to be 
included as part of a licensed premises so long as the space is used only for storage of alcoholic 
beverages and can be accessed through public space or space controlled by the licensee. The 
bar's basement area used for the storage of alcohol is accessible via a sidewalk cellar door 
only and is not accessed by the residential hallway of the building.  

 
ii. Whereas, as there is no patron space being added to the licensed premises and no change to 

the method of operation, CB2 waived appearance from the Applicant with the previously 
agreed upon and executed stipulations from March/2018 remaining in place, those stipulations 
being as follows: 

 
1. The hours of operation will be from 5:00 PM to 1:00 AM 7 days a week. All patrons will 

be cleared and no patrons will remain after stated closing time for each area. 



 
 

SLA1 Licensing – Page 2 of 13 

2. Will operate with less than a full service kitchen but will serve food during all hours of 
operation. 

3. The premises, or any portion of the premises will not operate as a sports bar. 
4. The premises will not have televisions or projectors. 
5. The premises will not operate a backyard garden or any outdoor area for commercial 

purposes not including a licensed sidewalk café. 
6. The premises will play quiet ambient-recorded background music only.  No music will 

be audible in any adjacent residences at any time. 
7. Will close all doors and windows at all times, allowing only for patron ingress and egress. 
8. Will not make changes to the existing façade except to change signage or awning. There 

are no existing French doors. 
9. Will comply with NYC Department of Buildings Regulations and keep current at all 

times required Permits and Certificates. 
10. Will not have unlimited drink or unlimited food and drink specials. Will not have “boozy 

brunches.” No pitchers of beer. 
11. There will be no “bottle service” or the sale of bottles of alcohol except for the sale of 

bottles of beer or wine products. 
12. Will not have any of the following: dancing, DJs, live music, promoted events, any event 

for which a cover fee is charged, scheduled performances, velvet ropes or barricades, or 
doormen/security personnel.  

13. Will appear before CB2, Manhattan prior to submitting changes to any stipulation agreed 
to herein. 

 
THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED that Community Board 2, Manhattan recommends denial of 
the application for an alteration to the Tavern Wine license in the name of 13 Sullivan Gents LLC 
d/b/a No 142, 142 Sullivan Street, North Storefront 10012, unless the statements presented by 
the Applicant are accurate and complete and that the conditions agreed to by the Applicant remain 
incorporated into the “Method of Operation” of the NYSLA Tavern Wine License. 
 
Vote: Unanimous in favor (7–0) 
 
 
2. 164 Mulberry Street Corp. d/b/a Da Nico, 164 Mulberry Street 10013 (Existing OP–

Restaurant SN#1025413, Corporate Change) 
 
i. Whereas, the Applicant and the Applicant’s Attorney appeared before Community Board 2, 

Manhattan’s SLA Licensing #1 via video conference to present an application to the NYS 
Liquor Authority for a Corporate Change to its On-Premises Restaurant liquor license 
(SN#1025413, exp 5/31/23) to continue to operate a full-service restaurant specializing in 
Italian fare within the ground and 2nd floors of a C6-2G-zoned, five (5)-story mixed-use 
building (c. 1900, altered 2005) on Mulberry Street between Grand and Broome Streets 
(Block #471/Lot #29) the building falling within the designated Special Little Italy District; 
and 

 
ii. Whereas, the Applicant’s family has been in operation at the premises since the license 

originated in 1995, the Corporate Change is to change the ownership of the Applicant from 
100% to 50% and to add the Applicant’s wife as the other 50% owner, the wife having 



 
 

SLA1 Licensing – Page 3 of 13 

managed and been involved in the running of the premises for many years; the method of 
operation remaining the same; and 

 
iii. Whereas, the existing method of operation is a full-service restaurant operating within a 

roughly 3,200 sq. ft. premises (ground/first floor 1,200 sq. ft., the 2nd floor 2,000 sq. ft.); there 
being approximately 72 patron seats at tables on the first floor, 72 patron seats at tables on the 
second floor, one bar with two seats for a total interior patron occupancy of 146 seats, there 
is one TV, three bathrooms and a 2,000 sq. ft. rear yard (which according to the certificate of 
occupancy limits eating/drinking to dining only with 90 additional exterior patron seats, there 
are existing French doors on the front façade which close at 10:00 PM nightly and a sidewalk 
café consisting of four (4) tables and eight (8) seats which closes no later than 10:30 PM 
nightly; and 

 
iv. Whereas, the interior hours of operation will continue to be from 12:00 PM to 11:00 PM 

Sundays through Thursdays and from 12:00 PM to 12:00 AM Fridays and Saturdays, music 
will be quiet background only with no DJs, no promoted events, no private parties, no 
scheduled performances or cover fees, no velvet ropes, no movable barriers; and 

 
v. Whereas, the exterior rear garden will continue to be for dining purposes only, there will be 

no music in the rear yard and it will close by 10:30 PM Sundays through Thursdays and 
11:00 PM Fridays and Saturdays (no patron or staff will be in the rear yard after closing and 
all lighting will be turned off); and 

 
vi. Whereas, the Applicant has executed and has had notarized a Stipulations Agreement with 

Community Board 2, Manhattan that they agreed would be attached and incorporated into the 
method of operation of the On-Premises Restaurant Liquor License, with those stipulations 
as follows: 

 
1. Premises will be advertised and operated as a family run Italian restaurant. 
2. The hours of operation will be 12:00 PM to 11:00 PM Sundays through Thursdays and 

12:00 PM to 12:00 AM Fridays and Saturdays. No patrons will remain after stated 
closing time. 

3. Will not operate as a Lounge, Tavern or Sports Bar or allow any portion of premises to 
be operated in that manner. 

4. Will operate a backyard garden for dining purpose only, no music and no later than 
10:30 PM Sundays through Thursday and no later than 11 PM Fridays and Saturdays. 
All patrons and staff will be cleared at these hours and area closed 

5. Will operate a certified sidewalk café under the temporary Open Restaurants program 
located immediately adjacent to the storefront leaving a minimum clearance of 8' to the 
curbside for pedestrian passage with no more than four (4) tables and eight (8) patron 
seats as per previously approved DCA sidewalk café #0949447. No roadbed seating. 

6. Sidewalk café will close no later than 10:30 PM. All tables and chairs will be removed 
at this hour. No exterior music, speakers or TVs. 

7. Will play quiet ambient recorded background music only. No music will be audible in 
any adjacent residences at any time. 

8. Will have no more than one (1) television no larger than 40". There will be no projectors. 



 
 

SLA1 Licensing – Page 4 of 13 

9. Will close all doors and windows at 10 PM every night, allowing only for patron ingress 
and egress. 

10. Will not make changes to the existing façade except to change signage or awning. 
11. Will comply with NYC Department of Buildings Regulations and will keep current at all 

times required Permits and Certificates. 
12. Will not have unlimited drink or unlimited food and drink specials. Will not have “boozy 

brunches.” No pitchers of beer. 
13. Will not have any of the following: dancing, DJs, live music, promoted events, any event 

for which a cover fee is charged, scheduled performances, velvet ropes or barricades, or 
doormen/security personnel.  

14. Will appear before CB2, Manhattan prior to submitting changes to any stipulation agreed 
to herein. 

15. Will appear before CB2, Man. for alteration to license prior to submitting plans for 
permanent sidewalk or roadbed seating. 

 
THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED that Community Board 2, Manhattan recommends denial of 
the Corporate Change application to the existing On-Premises Restaurant Liquor License in the 
name of 164 Mulberry Street Corp. d/b/a Da Nico, 164 Mulberry Street 10013 unless the 
statements presented by the Applicant are accurate and complete and that the conditions agreed to 
by the Applicant remain incorporated into the “Method of Operation” of the NYSLA On-Premises 
Restaurant Liquor License. 
 
Vote: Unanimous in favor (6–0) 
 
 
3. Nobleats LLC, 132 Bowery 10013 (new RW–Restaurant) (previously unlicensed) 
 
i. Whereas, the Applicant and the Applicant’s Attorney appeared before Community Board 2, 

Manhattan’s SLA Licensing #1 via video conference to present an application to the NYS 
Liquor Authority for a new Restaurant Wine License to operate a Japanese ramen franchise 
restaurant on the ground floor of a C6-1G- zoned, 3-story mixed-use building (c. 1900) on the 
Bowery between Broome and Grand Streets (Block #470/Lot #60) the building falling within 
the designated Special Little Italy District; and  

 
ii. Whereas, the ground floor storefront premises is approximately 3,600 sq. ft. (2,200 sq. ft. 

ground floor connected by an interior staircase to 1,400 sq. ft. basement with no patron 
occupancy of the basement); there are 17 tables and 52 seats with one (1) bar and eight (8) 
seats for a total interior seated occupancy of 60 persons; the premises has one (1) door which 
will serve as patron ingress and egress and two (2) bathrooms; the store front infill being fixed 
without operable doors or windows that open out to the sidewalk and there is no sidewalk café 
or other outdoor seating; and 

 
iii. Whereas, the hours of operation will be from 11:00 AM to 11:00 PM Sundays through 

Saturdays (7 days a week); music will be quiet background only consisting of music from 
iPod/CDs; there will be no dancing, DJs, live music, promoted events, no scheduled 
performances or cover fees, no velvet ropes, no movable barriers; and 

 



 
 

SLA1 Licensing – Page 5 of 13 

iv Whereas, the premises to be licensed was previously unlicensed and most recently operated 
as a Medical Center / Office; and  

 
v. Whereas, the Applicant has executed and has had notarized a Stipulations Agreement with 

Community Board 2, Manhattan that they agreed to submit to the NYSLA and agreed would 
be attached and incorporated into the method of operation of the Restaurant Wine License, 
with those stipulations as follows: 

 
1. Premises will be advertised and operated as a full-service restaurant, specifically a 

franchise restaurant operating as a traditional Japanese ramen restaurant with the kitchen 
open and full menu items available until closing every night. 

2. The hours of operation will be 11:00 AM to 11:00 PM Sundays through Saturdays (7 
days a week). No patrons will remain after stated closing time. 

3. Will not operate as a Lounge, Tavern or Sports Bar or allow any portion of premises to 
be operated in that manner. 

4. Will not be operating a backyard garden or any other outdoor area for commercial 
purposes including any sidewalk café and/or roadbed seating operating under the Open 
Restaurants program. 

5. Will play quiet ambient recorded background music only, inclusive of any private parties 
or events. No music will be audible in any adjacent residences at any time.  

6. Will have no more than three (3) televisions no larger than 43". There will be no 
projectors and TV will operate in “closed caption” mode only without sound. 

7. Will close all doors and windows at all times, allowing only for patron ingress and egress. 
8. Will not install or have French doors, operable windows or open facades. 
9. Will not make changes to the existing façade except to change signage or awning.  
10. Will comply with NYC Department of Buildings Regulations and keep current at all 

times required Permits and Certificates. 
11. Will provide a Letter of No Objection or Certificate of Occupancy permitting eating and 

drinking for store front premises proposed to be licensed. 
12. Will not have unlimited drink or unlimited food and drink specials. Will not have “boozy 

brunches.” No pitchers of beer. 
13. There will be no “bottle service” or the sale of bottles of alcohol except for the sale of 

bottles of beer or wine products. 
14. Will not have any of the following: dancing, DJs, live music, promoted events, any event 

for which a cover fee is charged, scheduled performances, velvet ropes or barricades, or 
doormen/security personnel.  

15. Will appear before CB2, Manhattan prior to submitting changes to any stipulation agreed 
to herein. 

16. Will appear before CB2, Man. for alteration to license prior to submitting plans for 
permanent sidewalk or roadbed seating. 

 
THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED that Community Board 2, Manhattan recommends denial of 
the application for a new Restaurant Wine License in the name of Nobleats LLC, 132 Bowery 
10013 unless the statements presented by the Applicant are accurate and complete and that the 
conditions agreed to by the Applicant remain incorporated into the “Method of Operation” of the 
NYSLA Restaurant Wine License. 
 



 
 

SLA1 Licensing – Page 6 of 13 

Vote: Unanimous in favor (6–0) 
 
 
4. Entity to be formed by Babak Khorrami, d/b/a Tokyo Tavern, 183 Grand Street 10013 

(new OP–Restaurant) (previously unlicensed) 
 
i. Whereas, the Applicant appeared before Community Board 2, Manhattan’s SLA Licensing 

#1 via video conference to present an application to the NYS Liquor Authority for a new On-
Premises Liquor License to operate a Japanese/American restaurant on the ground floor of a 
C6-2G- zoned, 3-story mixed-use building (c. 1910) on Grand Street between Mulberry and 
Centre Streets (Block #236/Lot #17) the building falling within the designated Special Little 
Italy District; and  

 
ii. Whereas, the ground floor storefront premises is approximately 600 sq. ft.; there are ten (10) 

tables and 24 seats with one (1) bar and ten (10) seats for a total interior seated occupancy of 
34 persons; the premises has one (1) door which will serve as patron ingress and egress and 
one (1) bathrooms; the store front infill being fixed without operable doors or windows that 
open out to the sidewalk; and 

 
iii. Whereas, the hours of operation will be from 12:00 PM to 12:00 AM Sundays, 4:00 PM to 

12:00 AM Mondays through Wednesdays, 4:00 PM to 1:00 AM Thursdays through 
Saturdays; music will be quiet background only consisting of music from iPod/CDs; there 
will be no dancing, DJs, live music, promoted events, no scheduled performances or cover 
fees, no velvet ropes, no movable barriers; and 

 
iv. Whereas, there will be seasonal sidewalk seating (no heaters) operating under the temporary 

Open Restaurants program located immediately adjacent to the storefront leaving a minimum 
clearance of 8' to the curbside for pedestrian passage with no more than eight (8) patron seats; 
sidewalk café hours will end by 10:00 PM Sundays through Saturdays (7 days a week); and  

 
iv. Whereas, there is access to a rear yard but there will be no use of the rear yard by the 

Applicant, employees or patrons at any time for any purpose including storage of trash or 
employee breaks; and  

 
vi. Whereas, the premises to be licensed had operated since 1911 until as John Jovino Gun  Shop 

and was the oldest gun retailer in New York City; and  
 
vii. Whereas, the Applicant has executed and has had notarized a Stipulations Agreement with 

Community Board 2, Manhattan that they agreed to submit to the NYSLA and agreed would 
be attached and incorporated into the method of operation of the On-Premises Liquor License, 
with those stipulations as follows: 

 
1. Premises will be advertised and operated as a full-service restaurant, specifically a 

Japanese/American restaurant with the kitchen open and full menu items available until 
closing every night. 



 
 

SLA1 Licensing – Page 7 of 13 

2. The hours of operation will be from 12:00 PM to 12:00 AM Sundays, 4:00 PM to 
12:00 AM Mondays through Wednesdays, 4:00 PM to 1:00 AM Thursdays through 
Saturdays. No patrons will remain after stated closing time. 

3. Will not operate as a Lounge, Tavern or Sports Bar or allow any portion of premises to 
be operated in that manner. 

4. Will not be operating a backyard garden or any outdoor area for commercial purposes 
except for certified sidewalk café operating under the temporary Open Restaurants 
program located immediately adjacent to the storefront leaving a minimum clearance of 
8' to the curbside for pedestrian passage with no more than eight (8) patron seats. No 
roadbed seating. 

5. Sidewalk café will close no later than 10 PM. All tables and chairs will be removed at 
this hour. No exterior music, speakers or TVs. No roadbed seating. 

6. There will be no use of the rear yard for patrons, employees or trash at any time 
7. Will play quiet ambient recorded background music only, inclusive of any private parties 

or events. No music will be audible in any adjacent residences at any time.  
8. Will not have televisions. 
9. Will close all doors and windows at all times, allowing only for patron ingress and egress. 
10. Will not install or have French doors, operable windows or open facades. 
11. Will not make changes to the existing façade except to change signage or awning.  
12. Will comply with NYC Department of Buildings Regulations and keep current at all 

times required Permits and Certificates. 
13. Will provide a Letter of No Objection or Certificate of Occupancy permitting eating and 

drinking for store front premises proposed to be licensed. 
14. Will not have unlimited drink or unlimited food and drink specials. Will not have “boozy 

brunches.” No pitchers of beer. 
15. There will be no “bottle service” or the sale of bottles of alcohol except for the sale of 

bottles of beer or wine products. 
16. Will not have any of the following: dancing, DJs, live music, promoted events, any event 

for which a cover fee is charged, scheduled performances, velvet ropes or barricades, or 
doormen/security personnel.  

17. Will appear before CB2, Manhattan prior to submitting changes to any stipulation agreed 
to herein. 

18. Will appear before CB2, Man. for alteration to license prior to submitting plans for 
permanent sidewalk or roadbed seating. 

 
THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED that Community Board 2, Manhattan recommends denial of 
the application for a new Restaurant Wine License in the name of Entity to be formed by Babak 
Khorrami, d/b/a Tokyo Tavern, 183 Grand Street 10013  unless the statements presented by 
the Applicant are accurate and complete and that the conditions agreed to by the Applicant remain 
incorporated into the “Method of Operation” of the NYSLA Restaurant Wine License. 
 
Vote: Unanimous in favor (7–0) 
 
 
5. Watches of Switzerland LLC d/b/a Watches of  Switzerland, 58-60 Greene Street 10012 

(OP–Bottle Club) 
 



 
 

SLA1 Licensing – Page 8 of 13 

i. Whereas, the Applicant and the Applicant’s Attorney appeared before CB2, Manhattan’s 
SLA Licensing Committee #1 via video conference to present an application to the NYS 
Liquor Authority for a new Bottle Club License to operate a luxury watch retail store in a 
roughly 10,000 sq. ft. space within the ground floor and cellar of a M1-5A-zoned, five (5)-
story,  mixed-use building (c. 1873) on Greene Street between Broome and Spring Streets 
(Block #485/Lot #7502), the building falling within the NYC LPC’s SoHo Cast Iron District 
and the designated Special SoHo NoHo Mixed Use District; and 

 
ii. Whereas, the two-story premises (4,740 sq. ft. ground floor with 5,300 sq. ft. basement level 

connected by an interior stairway) has one (1) bar with five (5) seats and one (1) couch and 
six (6) chairs for a total seated occupancy of 13 persons in the basement level and a maximum 
occupancy of 164 persons; there are two (2) doors which will serve as patron ingress and 
egress with ADA access and emergency egress provided through the residential lobby, and 
two (2) bathrooms; the store front infill being fixed without operable doors or windows that 
open out to the sidewalk and there is no sidewalk café or other outdoor seating; and 

 
iii. Whereas, the method of operation will be as a retail store for the purpose of selling Watches 

of  Switzerland watches, the service of alcoholic beverages being complimentary to its 
customers during store hours of operation from 11:00 AM to 8:00 PM Mondays through 
Saturdays and 12:00 PM to 6:00 PM, with no TVs, and music will be recorded background 
music only, inclusive of any private sales events. There may be occasional live acoustic music 
played at background levels; and 

 
iv. Whereas, the two-story premises operated prior to 2018 as a high-end retail furniture store 

and has never operated for eating or drinking purposes before;  the Applicant appearing before 
CB2, Man. in September/2018 for essentially the same application, albeit for an On-Premises 
liquor license, CB2, Man. recommending approval of the application, the Applicant not 
moving forward with the liquor license application at that time despite opening the retail store 
in 2018; and 

 
v. Whereas, the Applicant has executed and has had notarized a Stipulations Agreement with 

Community Board 2, Manhattan that they agreed to submit to the NYSLA and agreed would 
be attached and incorporated into the method of operation of the Bottle Club License, with 
those stipulations as follows: 

 
1. Premises will be advertised and operated as a high-end retail watch store. 
2. Service of alcohol will be limited to wine, beer and cider products with a two drink 

maximum per customer per visit; no spirits. 
3. The hours of operation will be alcoholic beverages being complimentary to its customers 

during store hours of operation from 11:00 AM to 8:00 PM Mondays through Saturdays 
and 12:00 PM to 6:00 PM. No patrons will remain after stated closing time. 

4. Will not operate as a Lounge, Tavern or Sports Bar or allow any portion of premises to 
be operated in that manner. 

5. Will not be operating a backyard garden or any other outdoor area for commercial 
purposes including any sidewalk café and/or roadbed seating operating under the Open 
Restaurants program. 



 
 

SLA1 Licensing – Page 9 of 13 

6. Will play quiet ambient recorded background music only, inclusive of any private sales 
events. There may be occasional live acoustic music played at background levels. No 
music will be audible in any adjacent residences at any time.  

7. Will not have televisions. 
8. Will close all doors and windows at all times, allowing only for patron ingress and egress. 
9. Will not install or have French doors, operable windows or open facades. 
10. Will not make changes to the existing façade except to change signage or awning. 
11. Will comply with NYC Department of Buildings Regulations and keep current at all 

times required Permits and Certificates. 
12. Will not have any of the following: dancing, DJs, live music, promoted events, any event 

for which a cover fee is charged, scheduled performances, velvet ropes or barricades or 
doorman or security personnel. 

13. Will appear before CB2, Manhattan prior to submitting changes to any stipulation agreed 
to herein. 

 
THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED that Community Board 2, Manhattan recommends denial of 
the application for a new On-Premises Bottle Club License in the name of Watches of 
Switzerland LLC d/b/a Watches of Switzerland, 58-60 Greene Street 10012 unless the 
statements presented by the Applicant are accurate and complete and that the conditions and 
stipulations agreed to by the Applicant remain incorporated into the “Method of Operation” of the 
NYSLA On-Premises Bottle Club License. 
 
Vote: Unanimous in favor (7–0) 
 
 

THE FOLLOWING ARE RESOLUTIONS FOR ALL APPLICANTS THAT WERE  
LAID OVER, WITHDRAWN, OR DID NOT APPEAR AT THEIR REQUESTED HEARING: 

 
6. Diglio Corporation, 59 Grand St. 10012 (OP–Restaurant) 

Whereas, prior to this month’s Community Board 2, Manhattan’s SLA Licensing Committee 
Meeting on February 7, 2023, the Applicant requested to withdraw this application for an On-
Premises Restaurant Liquor License  and will resubmit the application for consideration at a future 
CB2 SLA Licensing Committee meeting prior to any filings with the NYSLA should they proceed; 
and  

THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that Community Board 2, Manhattan strongly recommends 
that the NYSLA deny any type of proposed on-premises license, tavern wine license, restaurant 
wine license, any other beer and wine license, corporate change, alteration, transfer or other 
changes to any existing license for Diglio Corporation, 59 Grand St. 10012, until the Applicant 
has presented their application in front of CB2’s SLA Licensing Committee and CB2 has 
forwarded a recommendation to the NYSLA and requests that the NYSLA send this Applicant 
back to CB2 should this application proceed directly to the NYSLA, in order that this important 
step not be avoided and that the concerns of the Community be fully heard.  



 
 

SLA1 Licensing – Page 10 of 13 

Vote: Unanimous in favor  
 
 
7. 66 Greene LLC, fka An Entity to be Formed by Alexander Grant d/b/a TBD, 66 Greene 

St. 10012, Grnd. Fl. & Bsmt. (TW–Café with clothing apparel)  

Whereas, prior to this month’s Community Board 2, Manhattan’s SLA Licensing Committee 
Meeting on February 7, 2023, the Applicant requested to withdraw this application for a Tavern 
Wine License for a café with clothing apparel and will resubmit the application for consideration 
at a future CB2 SLA Licensing Committee meeting prior to any filings with the NYSLA should 
they proceed; and  

THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that Community Board 2, Manhattan strongly recommends 
that the NYSLA deny any type of proposed on-premises license, tavern wine license, restaurant 
wine license, any other beer and wine license, corporate change, alteration, transfer or other 
changes to any existing license for 66 Greene LLC, fka An Entity to be Formed by Alexander 
Grant d/b/a TBD, 66 Greene St. 10012, until the Applicant has presented their application in 
front of CB2’s SLA Licensing Committee and CB2 has forwarded a recommendation to the 
NYSLA and requests that the NYSLA send this Applicant back to CB2 should this application 
proceed directly to the NYSLA, in order that this important step not be avoided and that the 
concerns of the Community be fully heard.  

Vote: Unanimous in favor  
 
 
8. Baotea Mulberry, Inc., 122 Mulberry St. 10013 (RW–Restaurant) 

Whereas, prior to this month’s Community Board 2, Manhattan’s SLA Licensing Committee 
Meeting on February 7, 2023, the Applicant requested to withdraw this application for a 
Restaurant Wine License and will resubmit the application for consideration at a future CB2 SLA 
Licensing Committee meeting prior to any filings with the NYSLA should they proceed; and  

THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that Community Board 2, Manhattan strongly recommends 
that the NYSLA deny any type of proposed on-premises license, tavern wine license, restaurant 
wine license, any other beer and wine license, corporate change, alteration, transfer or other 
changes to any existing license for Baotea Mulberry, Inc., 122 Mulberry St. 10013, until the 
Applicant has presented their application in front of CB2’s SLA Licensing Committee and CB2 
has forwarded a recommendation to the NYSLA and requests that the NYSLA send this Applicant 
back to CB2 should this application proceed directly to the NYSLA, in order that this important 
step not be avoided and that the concerns of the Community be fully heard.  

Vote: Unanimous in favor  
 
 
9. Unregular Bakery LLC d/b/a Unregular Forno, 124 4th Ave. 10003 (RW–Restaurant) 

Whereas, prior to this month’s CB2, Manhattan’s SLA #1 Licensing Committee Meeting on 



 
 

SLA1 Licensing – Page 11 of 13 

February 7, 2023 the Applicant requested to lay over this application for a Restaurant Wine 
License to March/2023 and will resubmit the application for consideration at a future CB2 SLA 
Licensing Committee meeting prior to any filings with the NYSLA should they proceed; and  

THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that Community Board 2, Manhattan strongly recommends 
that the NYSLA deny any type of proposed on-premises liquor license, tavern wine license, 
restaurant wine license, any other beer and wine license, corporate change, alteration, transfer or 
other changes to any existing license for Unregular Bakery LLC d/b/a Unregular Forno, 124 
4th Ave. 10003, until the Applicant has presented their application in front of CB2’s SLA 
Licensing Committee and CB2 has forwarded a recommendation to the NYSLA and requests that 
the NYSLA send this Applicant back to CB2 should this application proceed directly to the 
NYSLA, in order that this important step not be avoided and that the concerns of the Community 
be fully heard.  

Vote: Unanimous in favor  
 
 
10. L. Pride, on behalf of an entity to be determined, d/b/a TBD, 83-85 MacDougal St. North 

Store 10012 (OP–Restaurant) 

Whereas, at this month’s CB2, Manhattan’s SLA Licensing Committee Meeting on February 7, 
2023 the Applicant failed to appear on this application and did not provide information or 
explanation as to such non-appearance before CB2 Manhattan; and 

THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that CB2, Manhattan strongly recommends that the SLA 
deny any type of proposed on-premises liquor license, tavern wine license, restaurant wine license, 
any other beer and wine license, corporate change, alteration, transfer or other changes to any 
existing license L. Pride, on behalf of an entity to be determined, d/b/a TBD, 83-85 
MacDougal St. North Store 10012 until the Applicant has presented their application in front of 
CB2’s SLA Licensing Committee and CB2 has forwarded a recommendation to the SLA and 
requests that the SLA send this Applicant back to CB2, should this application proceed directly to 
the SLA, in order that this important step not be avoided and that the concerns of the Community 
be fully heard.  

Vote: Unanimous in favor  
 
 
11. Gigi Group LLC & 142 Emmut Partners LLC, 138 Bowery 10013 (OP–Hotel) 

Whereas, during this month’s CB2, Manhattan’s SLA #1 Licensing Committee Meeting on 
February 7, 2023 the Applicant requested to lay over this application for an On-Premises Hotel 
Liquor License to March/2023 and will resubmit the application for consideration at a future CB2 
SLA Licensing Committee meeting prior to any filings with the NYSLA should they proceed; and  

THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that Community Board 2, Manhattan strongly recommends 
that the NYSLA deny any type of proposed on-premises liquor license, tavern wine license, 
restaurant wine license, any other beer and wine license, corporate change, alteration, transfer or 



 
 

SLA1 Licensing – Page 12 of 13 

other changes to any existing license for Gigi Group LLC & 142 Emmut Partners LLC, 138 
Bowery 10013, until the Applicant has presented their application in front of CB2’s SLA 
Licensing Committee and CB2 has forwarded a recommendation to the NYSLA and requests that 
the NYSLA send this Applicant back to CB2 should this application proceed directly to the 
NYSLA, in order that this important step not be avoided and that the concerns of the Community 
be fully heard.  

Vote: Unanimous in favor  
 
 
12. 109 East 9th Street LLC, 163 Bleecker Street 10012 (OP–Restaurant)  

Whereas, prior to this month’s Community Board 2, Manhattan’s SLA Licensing Committee 
Meeting on February 7, 2023, the Applicant requested to withdraw this application for an On-
Premises Liquor License and will resubmit the application for consideration at a future CB2 SLA 
Licensing Committee meeting prior to any filings with the NYSLA should they proceed; and  

THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that Community Board 2, Manhattan strongly recommends 
that the NYSLA deny any type of proposed on-premises license, tavern wine license, restaurant 
wine license, any other beer and wine license, corporate change, alteration, transfer or other 
changes to any existing license for 109 East 9th Street LLC, 163 Bleecker Street 10012, until 
the Applicant has presented their application in front of CB2’s SLA Licensing Committee and 
CB2 has forwarded a recommendation to the NYSLA and requests that the NYSLA send this 
Applicant back to CB2 should this application proceed directly to the NYSLA, in order that this 
important step not be avoided and that the concerns of the Community be fully heard.  

Vote: Unanimous in favor  
 
 
13. Astor Management LLC, 163 Bleecker Street 10014 (OP–Restaurant) 

Whereas, during this month’s CB2, Manhattan’s SLA #1 Licensing Committee Meeting on 
February 7, 2023 the Applicant requested to lay over this application for an On-Premises 
Restaurant Liquor License to March/2023 and will resubmit the application for consideration at a 
future CB2 SLA Licensing Committee meeting prior to any filings with the NYSLA should they 
proceed; and  

THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that Community Board 2, Manhattan strongly recommends 
that the NYSLA deny any type of proposed on-premises liquor license, tavern wine license, 
restaurant wine license, any other beer and wine license, corporate change, alteration, transfer or 
other changes to any existing license for Astor Management LLC, 163 Bleecker Street 10014 
until the Applicant has presented their application in front of CB2’s SLA Licensing Committee 
and CB2 has forwarded a recommendation to the NYSLA and requests that the NYSLA send this 
Applicant back to CB2 should this application proceed directly to the NYSLA, in order that this 
important step not be avoided and that the concerns of the Community be fully heard.  

Vote: Unanimous in favor  



 
 

SLA1 Licensing – Page 13 of 13 

 
 
Respectfully submitted, 
 
Robert Ely and Donna Raftery, Co-Chairs, SLA Licensing Committee 
Community Board 2, Manhattan 
 



 

COMMUNITY BOARD NO.  2,  MANHATTAN 
3  WASHINGTON SQUARE V ILLAGE  

NEW YORK ,  NY  10012-1899 
w w w . c b 2 m a n h a t t a n . o r g  

P :  212-979-2272  F :  212-254-5102  E :  info@cb2manhattan.org 
Greenwich Village   v    Little Italy   v    SoHo   v    NoHo   v   Hudson Square   v    Chinatown    v    Gansevoort Market 

 

SLA2 Licensing  – Page 1 of 13 

Jeannine Kiely, Chair 
Susan Kent, First Vice Chair 
Valerie De La Rosa, Second Vice Chair 
Mark Diller, District Manager 

Antony Wong, Treasurer 
Amy Brenna, Secretary 

Ritu Chattree, Assistant Secretary 

SLA LICENSING COMMITTEE 2 
 

  
The SLA Licensing Committee #2 of Community Board 2, Manhattan, held a meeting at 6:30 PM 
on Thursday February 9, 2023, via Zoom Conferencing. 
 
Committee Board Members Present: R. Ely (Co-Chair), D. Raftery (Co-Chair), S. Kent, K. 
Bordonaro, Dr. S. Smith and C. Flynn.  
Committee Board Members absent with notice: M. Fitzgerald and B. Pape. 
Other Board Members Present: C. Booth. 
 
 
RESOLUTIONS: 
 
1. Lin and Daughters Inc., d/b/a Lin and Daughters, 181 West 4th St. 10014 (New RW-
Restaurant) 

i.  Whereas, the Applicant and the Applicant’s Attorney appeared before Community Board 
2, Manhattan’s SLA Licensing Committee for a new Restaurant Wine liquor license to operate a 
neighborhood restaurant serving Chinese comfort food within a ground floor store front located in 
a three story Federal style townhouse (circa 1910) on West 4th Street between Jones and Barrow 
Streets, this building falling within NYC LPC’s designated Greenwich Village District; and, 

ii.  Whereas, the storefront premise proposed to be licensed was previously operated as 
Ramen-Ya, a restaurant with a similar method of operation serving Chinese fare with a restaurant 
wine license; and,    
 
iii. Whereas, the interior storefront is roughly 463 sq. ft., where there will be 4 tables and 12 
patron seats, no bar for a total interior patron capacity of 12, there is no basement, the storefront 
infill being fixed without French doors or operable windows, with one patron entrance and one 
patron bathroom, but there will be no sidewalk café and no roadbed dining, or other exterior service 
of alcohol included with this application; and, 
 
iv.  Whereas, the hours of operation will be Sunday to Thursday from 11 AM to 12 AM and 
Fridays/Saturdays from 11 AM to 1 AM, music in the interior will be quiet background only; and, 
 
v. Whereas, the Applicant met with the local block association and garnered the support from 
those living in the immediate area, a representative appearing in support of the instant application; 
and. 



 

 
SLA2 Licensing  – Page 2 of 13 

 
vi.  Whereas, the Applicant was provided with a stipulations agreement that matched their 
proposed method of operation and agreed to submit it the NYSLA as follows: 
 

1. The licensed premises will be advertised and operated as a small restaurant serving Chinese 
fare. 

2. The hours of operation will be Sunday to Thursday from 11 AM to 12 AM and 
Fridays/Saturdays from 11 AM to 1 M. 

3. The premises will not operate as a lounge, tavern or sports bar or allow any portion of the 
premises to be operated in such a manner. 

4. The premises will not have televisions. 
5. Will not operate a backyard garden or any outdoor area for commercial purposes including 

any sidewalk café and/or roadbed seating operating under the Open Restaurants program. 
6. Will not install or have French doors, operable windows or open facades. 
7. The premises will play quiet ambient-recorded background music only. No music will be 

audible in any adjacent residences at anytime. 
8. The premises will not have dancing, DJ’s, live music, promoted events, any event where 

cover fee is charged, scheduled performances, velvet ropes or metal barricades and security 
personnel/doorman. 

9. Will not have unlimited drink or unlimited food and drink specials. Will not have “boozy 
brunches.” No pitchers of beer. 

10. Will not make changes to the existing façade except to change signage or awning. 
11. There will be no “bottle service” or the sale of bottles of alcohol except for the sale of 

bottles of wine products. 
12. Will comply with NYC Department of Buildings Regulations & keep current at all times 

required Permits & Certificates. 
13. Will appear before CB2 Manhattan for alteration to license prior to submitting plans for 

permanent sidewalk or roadbed seating. 
 
THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that Community Board 2, Manhattan recommends denial 
of the application for a new Restaurant Wine License for Lin and Daughters Inc., d/b/a Lin and 
Daughters, 181 West 4th St. 10014, unless the statements presented by the Applicant are accurate 
and complete and that the conditions and stipulations agreed to by the Applicant are incorporated 
into the “Method of Operation” of the SLA Restaurant Wine License and the Temporary Retail 
Permit. 
 
Vote: Unanimous in favor (5-0) 
 
  
2. Hao Noodle and Tea LLC, d/b/a Madam Zhu’s Kitchen, 401 Ave. of the America 
10014 (Corp. Change) 
 
 
i.  Whereas, the Applicant appeared before Community Board 2, Manhattan’s SLA 
Committee to present an application to the NYS Liquor Authority for a corporate change of 
ownership to an existing Restaurant Wine License (SN 1294776); the Applicant will continue to 
operate a restaurant serving Chinese cuisine in a two-story building constructed in 1915 and 



 

 
SLA2 Licensing  – Page 3 of 13 

located on Sixth Avenue and between West 8th Street and Waverly Pl., this building falling 
within NYC LPC’s designated Greenwich Village District; and  
 
ii.  Whereas, the Applicant seeks to add a new holding and investment company to its 
corporate structure but the existing ownership and management will continue operation of its 
full-service restaurant without change to its method of operation in a premises with an occupancy 
of approximately 74 persons; the premises has 21 tables with 67 seats and a counter with no (0) 
seats; the premises has 1 entrance/exit and 2 patron bathrooms; there will be no outdoor seating 
on the sidewalk or roadbed under the temporary Open Restaurants program; and 
 
iii. Whereas, the Applicant’s hours of operation remain the same, 1:00 PM to 11:00 PM 
Sunday to Thursday and from 1:00 PM to 12:00 AM Fridays and Saturdays; music will be quiet 
recorded background only; there will be no DJ’s, no promoted events, no live music or scheduled 
performances, no cover fees, and no televisions; and 
 
iv.  Whereas, the Applicant has executed and has had notarized a Stipulations Agreement 
with Community Board 2, Manhattan which will be incorporated into the “Method of Operation” 
of the Restaurant Wine License, with those stipulations as follows: 
 
  1. The premises will be advertised and will operate as a full-service restaurant. 
  2. The hours of operation will be from 1:00 PM to 11:00 PM Sunday to Thursday and from 

1:00 PM to 12:00 AM Fridays and Saturdays.   
 3. The Applicant will operate a full-service restaurant with the kitchen open and the full 

menu available until closing every night.  
 4. The premises will not operate as a Lounge, Tavern or Sports Bar or allow any portion of 

premises to be operated in that manner. 
 5. It will not have televisions. 
 6. It will not operate a backyard garden or any outdoor area for commercial purposes. 
 7. It will play quiet ambient recorded background music only.   
 8. Will close all doors and windows at all times, allowing only for patron ingress and 

egress. 
 9. It will not install or have French doors, operable windows, or open façades. 
 10. It will not make changes to the existing façade, except to change the signage or awning. 
 11. It will comply with NYC Department of Buildings Regulations & keep current at all 

times required Permits & Certificates. 
 12. It will not have unlimited drink or unlimited food & drink specials.  It will not have 

“boozy brunches” and will not sell pitchers of beer. 
 13. There will be no “bottle service” or the sale of alcohol by the bottle, except for beer and 

wine products. 
 14. The Applicant will appear before CB2, Manhattan prior to submitting any changes to any 

stipulation agreed to herein. 
 15. It will not have any of the following: dancing, DJs, live music, promoted events, any 

event for which a cover fee is charged, scheduled performances, velvet ropes or 
barricades, or doormen/security personnel. 

 16. It will appear before CB2, Manhattan for an alteration to its license prior to submitting 
plans for permanent sidewalk or roadbed seating. 

  



 

 
SLA2 Licensing  – Page 4 of 13 

THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED that Community Board 2, Manhattan recommends denial of 
the application for a corporate change to the existing On Premises License (SN 1160761, exp. 
4/30/23) for Hao Noodle and Tea LLC, d/b/a Madam Zhu’s Kitchen, unless the statements 
presented by the Applicant are accurate and complete and that the conditions and stipulations 
agreed to by the Applicant remain incorporated into the “Method of Operation” of the SLA 
Restaurant Wine License. 
  
Vote: Unanimous in favor (5-0) 
 
 
 
3.  WF1 LLC d/b/a Pending, 29 Cornelia Street 10014 (New OP)   
 
i.  Whereas, the Applicant and the Applicant’s attorney appeared before Community Board 2, 
Manhattan’s SLA Committee to present an application to the NYS Liquor Authority for a new On-
Premises Liquor License to operate a Japanese-American fusion restaurant in a ground floor 
storefront located within a six-story, tenement style residential building (circa 1903) on Cornelia 
Street between Bleecker and West 4th Streets, this building falling within NYC LPC’s designated 
Greenwich Village Historic District; and,  
 
ii.  Whereas, the storefront proposed to be licensed has operated in the past as the Cornelia 
Street Café, with a similar method of operation, the interior storefront is roughly 2100 sq. ft. with 
900 sq. ft. ground floor and 1200 sq. ft. cellar, there is a full-service kitchen, with 12 tables and  24 
patron seats and 1 stand up bar with 11 additional patron seats on the ground floor, and 8 tables 
with 18 patron seats and 1 stand-up bar with 5 additional seats in the cellar, for a total indoor 
seated patron occupancy of 58 persons, there operable French doors running along the front 
storefront façade with one (1) double door patron entry/exit and 4 patron bathrooms, the store front 
infill being fixed without operable doors or windows with the exception of set of existing double 
doors for entry/exit from the restaurant to the sidewalk; and  
 
iii. Whereas, the Applicant’s hours of operation will be Sundays to Tuesdays from 12:00 PM 
to 1:00 AM, Wednesdays to Saturdays from 12:00 PM to 2:00 AM, music will be quiet recorded 
background only; there will be no DJ’s, no promoted events, no live music or scheduled 
performances, no cover fees, and no televisions; and, 
 
iv. Whereas, the Applicant presented a diagram demonstrating that there could be situated 
five tables for two persons each, with the two-top tables being placed immediately against the front 
façade so as to create and allow for an additional 8.5’ of sidewalk width to the curb, albeit limited 
to an existing tree pit, the public sidewalk at this location being narrow mid-block zoned for 
residential; and, 
  
v. Whereas, this application being subject to the 500 foot rule requiring the Applicant to 
demonstrate that the public interest would be served by adding another liquor license at this 
location, , there being 117 active on premise liquor licenses within 750 feet of the location 
proposed to be licensed, with 12 additional pending licenses, the method of operation being 
somewhat similar to what was licensed and operated at the same location in the past, the 
Applicants having met with the local block associations and residents living on the block, working 



 

 
SLA2 Licensing  – Page 5 of 13 

with and compromising with the existing community and stakeholders, there will be no roadbed 
dinning or structures built in the roadway, the agreed upon stipulations with the neighbors and 
block associations being reasonable, the public interest being established albeit subject to the 
Applicant and Licensee abiding by those agreed upon stipulations; and 
 
vi. Whereas, the Applicant has executed and has had notarized a Stipulations Agreement with 
Community Board 2, Manhattan which will be incorporated into the “Method of Operation” of the 
On Premises Liquor License, with those stipulations as follows: 
 
  1. Will operate a full-service restaurant with a full-service kitchen serving Italian fare, 
with the kitchen open and the full menu available until closing every night. 
 2. The hours of operation will be Sundays to Tuesdays from 12:00 PM to 1:00 AM, 
Wednesdays to Saturdays from 12:00 PM to 2:00 AM. 
 3. Will not install or have French doors, operable windows or open facades.   
 4. The premise will not operate as a Lounge, Tavern or Sports Bar or allow any 
portion of premises to be operated in that manner. 
 5. Will not operate a backyard garden or any outdoor area for commercial purposes 
except for sidewalk café seating operating under the temporary Open Restaurants program located 
immediately adjacent to and limited to storefront frontage width, following diagram submitted and 
leaving a minimum clearance of 8.5' to the curbside at all times for pedestrian passage with no 
more than five (5) tables and ten (10) patron seats on Cornelia Street. No roadbed seating. 
 6. Sidewalk café will close by 10:00 PM every night. 
 7. It will play quiet ambient recorded background music only.  No music will be 
audible in any adjacent residences at any time. 
 8. Will close all existing doors & windows by 10 PM, allowing only for patron ingress 
and egress. 
 9. Will not have televisions. 
 10. Will utilize electronic messaging and reservation system; patrons will be notified to 
prevent patrons waiting or lining up outside on sidewalk or in immediate area of restaurant.  
 11. It will not have unlimited drink or unlimited food & drink specials.  It will not have 
“boozy brunches” and will not sell pitchers of beer. 
 12. There will be no “bottle service” or the sale of alcohol by the bottle, except for beer 
and wine products. 
 13. It will not have any of the following: dancing, DJs, live music, promoted events, 
any event for which a cover fee is charged, scheduled performances, velvet ropes or barricades, or 
doormen/security personnel.  
 14. It will appear before CB2, Manhattan for an alteration to its license prior to 
submitting plans for permanent sidewalk or roadbed seating.  
 
THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED that Community Board 2, Manhattan recommends denial of 
the application for a new Restaurant On Premises Liquor License to WF1 LLC d/b/a Pending, 29 
Cornelia Street 10014 unless the statements presented by the Applicant are accurate and complete 
and that the conditions and stipulations agreed to by the Applicant remain incorporated into the 
“Method of Operation” of the SLA On Premises License. 
 
Vote: Unanimous in favor (5-0) 
 



 

 
SLA2 Licensing  – Page 6 of 13 

 
 
 
4. 225 Pizza LLC d/b/a LTD Pizza, 225 Hudson Street 10013 (New Restaurant Wine)  
 
 
i.  Whereas, the Applicants and the Applicant’s Attorney appeared before Community Board 
2, Manhattan’s SLA Committee to present an application to the NYS Liquor Authority for a new 
Restaurant Wine License to operate a Pizzeria restaurant in a ground floor storefront located within 
a five-story, mixed use apartment building (circa 1910); the premises is located on Hudson Street 
between West 4th and Bleecker St in the Hudson Square area of lower Manhattan; and,  
 
ii. Whereas, the storefront proposed to be licensed was operated for years as a sporting goods 
store and has never been licensed for the service of alcohol or for eating/drinking use/occupancy; 
and, 
 
iii. Whereas, the storefront premise is roughly 1380 sq. ft. (980 sq. ft. ground floor and 400 
sq. ft. basement with the basement being for patrons and the service of alcohol), there is no kitchen 
but the Applicant plans to add a pizza oven and prep area on the ground floor, there will be 2 tables 
with 23 patron seats, one counter with 3 seats, one stand-up bar with 5 seats for a seated patron 
occupancy of 31 persons on the ground floor, and in the basement there will be two additional 
tables with 12 patron seats and a second stand-up bar with no designated seats for a total patron 
seated capacity of 12, with two patron bathrooms, the store front infill being fixed without operable 
doors or windows that open out to the sidewalk; and, 
 
iv. Whereas, the Applicant’s hours of operation will be Sundays to Saturdays from 11:00 AM 
to 2:00 AM, music will be quiet recorded background only; there will be no DJ’s, no promoted 
events, no live music or scheduled performances, no cover fees, and one television; and, 
 
v. Whereas, the Applicant also seeks to operate in the rear yard with two tables and eight 
seats, but provided no photos of the rear yard depicting the outdoor space or the surrounding 
apartments facing the rear yard to ascertain the potential impacts from noise and/or invasion of 
privacy, the Applicant not providing a letter of no objection for the multi-floor patron use 
occupancy sought, and there is no certificate of occupancy, demonstrating that the planned 
occupancy in the basement, ground floor or rear yard is safe with the requisite emergency egress 
requirements, there is no evidence of any permits in place to use the rear yard, ground floor or 
basement for eating/drinking occupancy, with this location having never been used/occupied for 
eating and drinking purposes in the past; and, 
 
vi. Whereas, the Applicant also seeks to operate on the sidewalk with 2 tables with eight seats, 
without providing a diagram showing the dimensions or measurements of the sidewalk or any 
coherent plan demonstrating where the tables could be located, there being many obstructions 
already existing on the sidewalk, including a large ramp taking up the entire frontage of the 
storefront, as well as benches, planting and trees extending from the curb, making the location or 
potential siting of the two tables in the middle of the public sidewalk blocking pedestrian traffic; 
and, 
 



 

 
SLA2 Licensing  – Page 7 of 13 

vii. Whereas, when asked if the Applicant would either withdraw certain aspects of this 
application or wait until the permits were in place to demonstrate the necessary egress requirements 
for eating/drinking purposes to the premises proposed to be licensed, the Applicant indicated they 
would not do so; and,        
 
THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED that CB2, Man. recommends denial of the Restaurant Wine 
License application for 225 Pizza LLC d/b/a LTD Pizza, 225 Hudson Street 10013; and 
 
THEREFORE BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that should this application be considered by 
the NYSLA, CB2, Man. respectfully requests that this item be Calendared to appear before the 
Full Board of the SLA. 
 
 
Vote: Unanimous in favor (6-0) 
 
 
5. Thai Smile Restaurant Inc. d/b/a Tue Thai Food 3 Greenwich Ave 10014 (New OP - 
Restaurant)   
 
i.  Whereas, the Applicants and the Applicant’s Attorney appeared before Community Board 
2, Manhattan’s SLA Committee to present an application to the NYS Liquor Authority for a new 
On-Premises Liquor License to operate a full service restaurant serving Thai cuisine in a ground 
floor corner storefront located within a one-story building (circa 1960) on Greenwich Ave. 
between Christopher Street and 6th Avenue, this building falling within NYC LPC’s designated 
Greenwich Village Historic District; and,  
 
ii.  Whereas, the Applicant has operated at its current restaurant with a Restaurant Wine 
license for many years, and plans to continue to operate with the same method of operation, 
ownership and management, as an authentic Thai food restaurant within a 1200 sq. ft. ground floor 
storefront, there is a full-service kitchen, 17 tables with 34 patron seats, one customer bar with no 
additional seats for a total indoor seated patron occupancy of 34 persons, there is one (1) patron 
entry and one (1) patron exit and one (1) patron bathroom, the store front infill being fixed without 
operable doors or windows that open out to the sidewalk; and  
 
iii. Whereas, the Applicant’s hours of operation will continue to be Sunday to Saturday from 
11:00 AM to 12:00 AM, music will be quiet recorded background only; there will be no DJ’s, no 
promoted events, no live music or scheduled performances, no cover fees, and no televisions; there 
will be a sidewalk café with ten (10) tables and twenty (20) patron seats on Greenwich Avenue but 
no roadbed dining or other exterior service of alcohol included with this application; and 
 
iv. Whereas, this application being subject to the 500 foot rule requiring the Applicant to 
demonstrate that the public interest would be served by adding another liquor license at this 
location, , there being 69 active on premise liquor licenses within 750 feet of the location proposed 
to be licensed, with 10 additional pending licenses, the method of operation being similar to what 
has been licensed and operated at the same location in the past without significant conflict, the 
Applicants are known in the immediate community, met with and received the support of the local 
block association, the agreed upon stipulations being reasonable, the public interest being 



 

 
SLA2 Licensing  – Page 8 of 13 

established albeit subject to the Applicant and Licensee abiding by those agreed upon stipulations 
in the future; and 
 
v. Whereas, the Applicant has executed and has had notarized a Stipulations Agreement with 
Community Board 2, Manhattan which will be incorporated into the “Method of Operation” of the 
On Premises License, with those stipulations as follows: 
 
  1. The Applicant will operate a full-service restaurant with a full-service kitchen 
serving authentic Thai food, with the kitchen open and the full menu available until closing every 
night. 
 2. The hours of operation will be Sundays to Saturdays from 11:00 AM to 12:00 AM. 
 3. Will not install or have French doors, operable windows or open facades.   
 4. The premise will not operate as a Lounge, Tavern or Sports Bar or allow any portion 
of premises to be operated in that manner. 
 5. Will not operate a backyard garden or any outdoor area for commercial purposes 
except for sidewalk café seating operating under the temporary Open Restaurants program located 
immediately adjacent to and limited to storefront frontage width, with no more than ten (10) tables 
and twenty (20) patrons seats. No roadbed seating. 
 6. Sidewalk café will close no later than 11 PM. All tables and chairs will be removed 
at this hour. No exterior music, speakers  
 7. It will play quiet ambient recorded background music only.  No music will be 
audible in any adjacent residences at any time. 
 8. It will keep all doors and windows closed at all times, allowing only for patron 
ingress and egress. 
 9. Will not have televisions. 
 10. Sidewalk Sandwich/Advertising Boards will be positioned against the building and 
not out on the Sidewalk blocking pedestrian traffic. 
 11. It will not have unlimited drink or unlimited food & drink specials.  It will not have 
“boozy brunches” and will not sell pitchers of beer. 
 12. There will be no “bottle service” or the sale of alcohol by the bottle, except for beer 
and wine products. 
 13. It will not have any of the following: dancing, DJs, live music, promoted events, 
any event for which a cover fee is charged, scheduled performances, velvet ropes or barricades, or 
doormen/security personnel.  
 14. It will appear before CB2, Manhattan for an alteration to its license prior to 
submitting plans for permanent sidewalk or roadbed seating.  
 
THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED that Community Board 2, Manhattan recommends denial of 
the application for a new Restaurant On Premises Liquor License to Thai Smile Restaurant Inc. 
d/b/a Tue Thai Food 3 Greenwich Ave 10014 unless the statements presented by the Applicant 
are accurate and complete and that the conditions and stipulations agreed to by the Applicant 
remain incorporated into the “Method of Operation” of the SLA Restaurant On Premises License. 
 
Vote: Unanimous in favor (5-0) 
 
 
 



 

 
SLA2 Licensing  – Page 9 of 13 

 
6. Sogno 85th LLC d/b/a Sogno Toscano, 17 Perry Street 10014 (New OP—Café/Wine 
Bar) 
 
i.  Whereas, the Applicant appeared before Community Board 2, Manhattan’s SLA 
Committee to present an application to the NYS Liquor Authority for a new On Premise License 
to operate café/wine bar in a four-story, mixed-use townhouse constructed in 1846 on the 
northwest corner of Perry Street at its intersection with Waverly Place (Block #613/Lot #28) and 
which is located in the Greenwich Village Historic District; and  
 
ii. Whereas, the storefront premise has operated as a café and wine bar with a tavern wine 
license since 2021, and before that was not previously licensed, operating for many years prior as 
a retail clothing and surf apparel store (Saturday’s Surf NYC); and, 
 
iii. Whereas, the Applicant, is also an importer and wholesale purveyor of Italian specialty 
food products, operating the café/wine bar featuring its products which are also available for 
purchase, with the ground floor space being roughly 800 sq. ft.; there is no kitchen, the letter of no 
objection from the NYC Dept. of Building prohibits cooking on the premises, where there are 12 
tables with 24 patron seats, one stand up bar with 5 additional seats and 1 service counter for a 
total of 29 patron seats in the premises, with 1entrance, and 1 bathroom; and 
 
iv. Whereas, the hours of operation will continue to be 9:00 AM to 10:00 PM, seven (7) days 
a week; music will be recorded background, no DJ’s, no live music or televisions; and 
 
v. Whereas, the Applicant also seeks to serve to the public sidewalk on both sides of the 
corner building, with 3 tables and 6 seats on Perry Street and 5 additional tables on Waverly Place, 
the sidewalk being narrow on both sides, the applicant not providing complete width 
measurements of the sidewalk, the diagrams not demonstrating a clear path of least 8’ required by 
the temporary open restaurants program, there being no licensed sidewalk café at this location in 
the past; and, 
 
vi. Whereas, opposition to this application was presented, citing the Applicant’s prior 
application for restaurant wine wherein the Applicant committed to not operate on the sidewalk, 
with those in opposition also presenting photographs taken in 2022 demonstrating the Applicant 
operating outside on the sidewalk with numerous tables on the sidewalk, some seating four patrons  
circling around individual tables, tables sited on both sides of the sidewalk, blocking pedestrian 
passage on both sides of the corner, and not providing the minimum clear passage of 8’ requiring 
under the temporary program; and,   
 
vii. Whereas, when asked about the photographs, the Applicant and Licensee admitted to a 
lack of oversight, with his staff permitting patrons to sit at tables in this manner, without limitation, 
on both sides of the sidewalk, not able to clarify or quantify how long this misuse of the sidewalk 
had been occurring, acknowledging that it was not a perfect world, and indicating his staff has had 
difficulty encouraging some patrons to maintain clear passage on the sidewalk; and  
 
viii. Whereas, this application being subject to the 500 foot rule requiring the Applicant to 
demonstrate that the public interest would be served by the addition of another on premise liquor 



 

 
SLA2 Licensing  – Page 10 of 13 

license, the storefront premise having been licensed for roughly 1.5 years, never with an on premise 
license, there being 62 active SLA licenses within 750 feet of the location proposed to be licensed, 
with 11 additional pending licenses, the location to be licensed is located in a residentially zoned 
community, has no kitchen, and cooking is prohibited, which limits its method of operation to one 
based on the service of alcohol, the use of the narrow sidewalk for eating/drinking being 
questionable, not presented in such a way that it could be permitted, the Applicant having a history 
of misusing the sidewalk, blocking clear passage for pedestrians at a corner intersection, where 
there are multiple cross walks leading to it, in addition to pre-existing sidewalk obstructions, 
including boxed plantings and trees, posts and crossing signal fixtures and parking signs at the 
corner, with wheel chair access provided from the corner curb cutout; and, 
  
 
THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED that Community Board 2, Manhattan recommends denial of 
the application for a new On Premise Liquor License for Sogno 85th LLC d/b/a Sogno Toscano, 
17 Perry Street 10014; and, 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that should this application be considered by the SLA, CB2, 
Manhattan respectfully requests that this item be calendared to appear before the Full Board of the 
SLA; and, 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that if this application is considered by the SLA, despite CB2, 
Manhattan’s recommendation to deny this application, CB2 requests that the SLA conduct a 500-
foot hearing. 
 
  
Vote: Unanimous in favor (5-0) 
 
 

THE FOLLOWING ARE RESOLUTIONS FOR ALL APPLICANTS THAT WERE  
LAID OVER, WITHDRAWN, OR DID NOT APPEAR BEFORE THEIR REQESTED 
HEARING: 

 
 
7. Aqua Santa Taqueria LLC d/b/a Aqua Santa Taqueria, 282 Hudson St. 10013 (New 
OP – Restaurant) (laid over) 

Whereas, at this month’s CB2, Manhattan’s SLA Licensing Committee Meeting on February 9, 
2023 the Applicant sought more time and requested to lay over this application to March/2023, 
thereafter affirming that they will not submit this application to the NYSLA for consideration 
without returning to CB2 Manhattan should they decide to proceed at some time in the future; and, 

THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that CB2, Manhattan strongly recommends that the SLA 
deny any type of proposed on-premises liquor license, tavern wine license, restaurant wine license, 
any other beer and wine license, corporate change, alteration, transfer or other changes to any 
existing license for Aqua Santa Taqueria LLC d/b/a Aqua Santa Taqueria, 282 Hudson St. 



 

 
SLA2 Licensing  – Page 11 of 13 

10013 (OP-Restaurant) until CB2 has forwarded its recommendation to the NYSLA and requests 
that the NYSLA suspend any decision on this license until this important step is taken and the 
concerns of the Community be fully heard.  

Vote: Unanimous in favor 
 
 
8. Food Napoli LLC d/b/a NA Slice, 11 Waverly Place 10003 (New RW–Restaurant) (laid 
over)  

Whereas, prior to this month’s CB2, Manhattan’s SLA Licensing Committee Meeting on 
February 9, 2023 the Applicant requested to lay over this application over to March/2023, 
affirming that they will not submit this application to the NYSLA for consideration without 
returning to CB2 Manhattan should they decide to proceed at some time in the future; and, 

THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that CB2, Manhattan strongly recommends that the SLA 
deny any type of proposed on-premises liquor license, tavern wine license, restaurant wine license, 
any other beer and wine license, corporate change, alteration, transfer or other changes to any 
existing license for Food Napoli LLC d/b/a NA Slice, 11 Waverly Place 10003 until CB2 has 
forwarded its recommendation to the NYSLA and requests that the NYSLA suspend any decision 
on this license until this important step is taken and the concerns of the Community be fully heard.  

Vote: Unanimous in favor 
 
 
9. Realmuto 117 7th Avenue South LLC, d/b/a Pending, 117 7th Ave. South 10014 (RW–
Restaurant) (Withdrawn) 

Whereas, prior to this month’s CB2, Manhattan’s SLA Licensing Committee Meeting on 
February 9, 2023 the Applicant requested to withdraw  this application from further consideration, 
affirming that they will not submit this application to the NYSLA for consideration without 
returning to CB2 Manhattan should they decide to proceed at some time in the future; and, 

THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that CB2, Manhattan strongly recommends that the SLA 
deny any type of proposed on-premises liquor license, tavern wine license, restaurant wine license, 
any other beer and wine license, corporate change, alteration, transfer or other changes to any 
existing license for Realmuto 117 7th Avenue South LLC, d/b/a Pending, 117 7th Ave. South 
10014 until CB2 has forwarded its recommendation to the NYSLA and requests that the NYSLA 
suspend any decision on this license until this important step is taken and the concerns of the 
Community be fully heard.  

Vote: Unanimous in favor 
 
 
10. Cara Jecm LLC, d/b/a Mad Morton, 13-15 Morton St. aka 47 7th Ave. S. 10014 (OP 
– Restaurant) (Extending operating hours) (Withdrawn)  



 

 
SLA2 Licensing  – Page 12 of 13 

Whereas, prior to this month’s CB2, Manhattan’s SLA Licensing Committee Meeting on 
February 9, 2023 the Applicant requested to withdraw  this application from further consideration, 
affirming that they will not submit this application to the NYSLA for consideration without 
returning to CB2 Manhattan should they decide to proceed at some time in the future; and, 

THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that CB2, Manhattan strongly recommends that the SLA 
deny any type of proposed on-premises liquor license, tavern wine license, restaurant wine license, 
any other beer and wine license, corporate change, alteration, transfer or other changes to any 
existing license for Cara Jecm LLC, d/b/a Mad Morton, 13-15 Morton St. aka 47 7th Ave. S. 
10014 until CB2 has forwarded its recommendation to the NYSLA and requests that the NYSLA 
suspend any decision on this license until this important step is taken and the concerns of the 
Community be fully heard.  

Vote: Unanimous in favor 
 
 
11. 340 Bleecker LLC d/b/a Amos on Bleecker, 340-342 Bleecker Street 10014 (OP-
Alteration, adding storage warehouse above premises) (Withdrawn)  

Whereas, prior to this month’s CB2, Manhattan’s SLA Licensing Committee Meeting on 
February 9, 2023 the Applicant requested to withdraw  this application from further consideration, 
affirming that they will not submit this application to the NYSLA for consideration without 
returning to CB2 Manhattan should they decide to proceed at some time in the future; and, 

THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that CB2, Manhattan strongly recommends that the SLA 
deny any type of proposed on-premises liquor license, tavern wine license, restaurant wine license, 
any other beer and wine license, corporate change, alteration, transfer or other changes to any 
existing license for 340 Bleecker LLC d/b/a Amos on Bleecker, 340-342 Bleecker Street 10014 
until CB2 has forwarded its recommendation to the NYSLA and requests that the NYSLA suspend 
any decision on this license until this important step is taken and the concerns of the Community 
be fully heard.  

Vote: Unanimous in favor 
 
 
12. Entity to be formed by Kim I. Alegado d/b/a Ad Hoc Collective, 13 Christopher St 
Bsmt 10014 (RW - Restaurant) (laid over) 

Whereas, prior to this month’s CB2, Manhattan’s SLA Licensing Committee Meeting on 
February 9, 2023 the Applicant requested to lay over this application over to March/2023, 
affirming that they will not submit this application to the NYSLA for consideration without 
returning to CB2 Manhattan should they decide to proceed at some time in the future; and, 

THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that CB2, Manhattan strongly recommends that the SLA 
deny any type of proposed on-premises liquor license, tavern wine license, restaurant wine license, 
any other beer and wine license, corporate change, alteration, transfer or other changes to any 
existing license for Entity to be formed by Kim I. Alegado d/b/a Ad Hoc Collective, 13 



 

 
SLA2 Licensing  – Page 13 of 13 

Christopher St Bsmt 10014 until CB2 has forwarded its recommendation to the NYSLA and 
requests that the NYSLA suspend any decision on this license until this important step is taken 
and the concerns of the Community be fully heard.  

Vote: Unanimous in favor 
 
 
13. Entity to be formed by Mariquit Ingalla d/b/a Rosecrans, 7 Greenwich Ave 10014 
(RW - Restaurant) (laid over) 

Whereas, prior to this month’s CB2, Manhattan’s SLA Licensing Committee Meeting on 
February 9, 2023 the Applicant requested to lay over this application over to March/2023, 
affirming that they will not submit this application to the NYSLA for consideration without 
returning to CB2 Manhattan should they decide to proceed at some time in the future; and, 

THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that CB2, Manhattan strongly recommends that the SLA 
deny any type of proposed on-premises liquor license, tavern wine license, restaurant wine license, 
any other beer and wine license, corporate change, alteration, transfer or other changes to any 
existing license for Entity to be formed by Mariquit Ingalla d/b/a Rosecrans, 7 Greenwich 
Ave 10014 until CB2 has forwarded its recommendation to the NYSLA and requests that the 
NYSLA suspend any decision on this license until this important step is taken and the concerns of 
the Community be fully heard.  

Vote: Unanimous in favor 
 
 
Respectfully submitted, 
 
Robert Ely and Donna Raftery, Co-Chairs, SLA Licensing Committee 
Community Board 2, Manhattan 
 
 



 

 Landmarks 1 – page 1 of 5 

  

Community Board No. 2, Manhattan 
3 Washington Square Village 

NEW YORK, NY 10012-1899 
www.cb2manhattan.org 

P: 212-979-2272 F: 212-254-5102 E: info@cb2manhattan   .org 
Greenwich Village   ❖    Little Italy   ❖    SoHo   ❖    NoHo   ❖   Hudson Square   ❖    Chinatown    ❖    Gansevoort Market 

 
The Community Board 2, Manhattan Landmarks and Public Aesthetics Committee held the first of 
two February 2023 meetings on February 9, 2023, by video conferencing. 
 
Committee Members Present: Chenault Spence (Chair), Susan Gammie (Vice-Chair), Brian Pape, 
Eugene Yoo, Zachary Roberts, Anita Brandt 
Board Members Absent with Notice:  Bo Ricobono, Mostafa Osman, Valerie De La Rosa 
Public Members Present: Albert Bennett, Brenden Fitzgerald 
Public Members Absent with notice: Andy Clark 
Board members:  
Committee Guests: 
 
1.   *350 Bleecker St. - The application is to paint the storefront portion of the facade a white 
color, to install a bracket sign, and to install signage with a polished gold finish.  
 
(Laid Over) 
 
 
2.   *841 Broadway - The application is to remove and existing glass panel infill and install an 
ATM machine and metal surround and to add lighting in an existing canopy. 
 
Whereas: 
 
 A.  For security concerns, the applicant has closed the 24-hour ATM lobby and wishes to install the 
machine accessible from the sidewalk; and 
 
B.  The panel replaces an existing pane of glass and additional lighting, and a security camera will be 
installed in the existing canopy; and 
 
C.  The panel is the bright red signature color of the bank and matches the existing sign above; and 
 
D.  The large red expanse of the panel creates stark contrast to the adjacent window and masonry, and 
if the expanse of red was reduced by adding a neutral color, the contrast would be softened and be 
more harmonious with the building; and 
 
E.  The applicant was receptive to the suggestion that the area of red be reduced; now  

Jeannine Kiely, Chair 
Susan Kent, First Vice Chair 
Valerie De La Rosa, Second Vice Chair 
Mark Diller, District Manager 

Antony Wong, Treasurer 
Amy Brenna, Secretary 
Ritu Chattree, Assistant Secretary 



 

 Landmarks 1 – page 2 of 5 

Therefore be it resolved that CB2 Manhattan recommends approval of the application provided 
that the amount of red in the panel   be reduced and replaced with a neutral color as the pri-
mary color in order to soften the effect on this historic building.  
 
Vote:  Unanimous 
 
3.   *136-140 Grand St. - The application is to install awning over new residential lobby and in-
crease elevator roof bulkhead. 
 
Whereas: 
 
A.  The existing freight elevator is located in the typical position at the facade and will be converted 
to a passenger elevator which necessitates an increase in height of approximately 10’ to the bulkhead 
to provide ADA access to the roof; and 
 
B.  The increase is quite visible, as are other bulkheads and rooftop additions to similar buildings the 
neighborhood, though it is not objectionable, and the grey acrylic stucco complements the color of the 
building which serves to diminish the obtrusiveness; and 
 
C.  No historic material will be disturbed; and 
 
D.  The bay for the existing elevator entrance and the adjacent bays will have wooden doors with 
glass panels patterned after the doors on Grand Street that are in keeping with the building and the 
district; and 
 
E.  An contemporary aluminum and glass canopy inspired by historic sheds in the district extends 6’ 
over the sidewalk and unobtrusive down-light is adjacent to the interior I beams; now 
 
Therefore be it resolved that CB2 Manhattan recommends approval of the sensitive design of a 
necessary modification that minimizes the visual impact and respects the historic character of 
the building.  
 
Vote: 8 Committee members in favor 
1 recused (Eugene Yoo) 
 
4.   60 Greene St. - The application is to replace existing ground floor infill, paint ground floor 
to match existing, repair and paint existing handrail and entrance steps. 
 
Whereas: 
 
A.  The building is distinguished, largely intact, and worthy of individual landmark designation, and it 
has an unusually delicate, detailed design especially characterized by a rhythm of repeated infill at the 
ground floor 
 
B.  The proposal is to replace sections of the ground floor infill including wooden bulkhead at the for-
mer position of a door with a new cast iron panel to match the existing window bulkheads, to paint 
the railings to match existing and to replace the original configuration of double pane windows with 
single pane plate glass; and 
 



 

 Landmarks 1 – page 3 of 5 

C.  The introduction of a new non-historic, boldly contemporary plate glass window into the original 
wooden infill gravely harms the historic character of the building and interrupts the rhythm of the 
ground floor infill; and 
 
D.  The applicant’s assertion that it is “impossible” for the shop to show its wares (watches) with the 
divided windows is spurious; and 
 
E.  The applicant represented, without verification, that the wooden infill was deteriorated and that it 
would be replaced with reproductions; and 
 
F.  The store entry door is to be replaced with a reproduction of the existing door to provide greater 
security; now 
 
Therefore be it resolved that CB2 Manhattan recommends: 
 
A.  A forceful denial of replacing the historic divided ground floor windows in three bays with 
single panes of plate glass, which destroy the repeated rhythm of the ground floor; and  
 
B.  Approval of the replacement of the wooden infill with a faithful reproduction of the existing 
provided that staff verifies that the condition of the existing infill necessitates the replacement 
and 
 
C.  Approval of the replacement of the wooden window bulkhead with cast iron to match the 
existing original in other bays; and 
 
D.  Approval of the replacement of the entrance door with a faithful reproduction of the exist-
ing door and of the painting of the new doors and railings to match existing.   
 
Vote: Unanimous 
 
 
5.  *473 Broadway - Remove the existing greenhouse structure on the east side of the existing 
penthouse, add a roofed enclosure on the west side, alter existing portion of the penthouse, raise 
exhaust fan structures with new exhaust fans, and replace existing air conditioner equipment. 
 
Whereas: 
 
The modifications to the existing penthouse and the addition of an enclosure to the existing exhaust 
fans are sensitively designed for minimum visibility and clad with lead coated copper and similar col-
ored materials further minimizing the intrusion to the rooftop view; now 
 
Therefore be it resolved that CB2 Manhattan recommends approval of the application which 
presents no objectionable views from a public thoroughfare. 
 
Vote: Unanimous 
 
  



 

 Landmarks 1 – page 4 of 5 

6.  *188 Spring St. - The application is to alter the front facade, to demolish the rear wall, construct a 
rear extension, and excavate the cellar and a portion of the rear garden. 
 
Whereas: 
 
A.  The building, though altered and re-bricked is one of the few surviving buildings of its period in 
SoHo and is further distinguished by having the horse walk entrance preserved; and 
 
 B.  The left door, originally for a horse walk and later repurposed for a commercial use of the ground 
floor, is to be replaced with a punched opening without regard for the great historic importance of re-
taining the door as a memory of the original horse walk; and the plate glass commercial window is 
proposed to be lengthened and fitted with a wooden casement; and 
 
C.  This window configuration was represented by the applicant as a “homage” to the later commer-
cial use of the ground floor and, with the removal of the second door and the cellar access stairs be-
low the central window gives only the appearance of odd openings with non-historic infill and serves 
no purpose as a historic reference for an intermediate use of the building; and 
 
D.  The plain wooden door and the brick steps have no historic reference; and 
 
E.  With return to a one family house it would be a more authentic treatment to return the facade to 
the original historic appearance, retaining the horse walk door and the central window of historic size 
with a double hung, multi-pane. punched window and to have an entrance door with period detailing 
and brownstone steps, all in the original historic style of the building; and 
 
F.  Restoration of the upper facade, the lintels, the dormer, and the roof are in keeping with the his-
toric style of the building; and 
 
G.  The rear additions and the rear wall, represented by the applicant as not original, are to be demol-
ished and replace by a masonry extension with depths of 24’ at the basement and parlor floors, leav-
ing ample rear yard depth, and 8’ on the second and third floors and the rear dormer is to be raised to 
conform to code; and 
 
H.  The rear windows are proposed to extend nearly the full width of the building and be glass folding 
doors from floor to ceiling with minimal metal framing of no particular style and not in harmony with 
the historic building; and 
 
I.  There is to be excavation in the cellar and a portion of the garden that retains a thickness of the ex-
isting wall for security of the adjacent row house and to the wall of a large, contemporary building on 
the opposite side and requires no underpinning and appears to present no peril to the building or ad-
joining properties; now 
 
Be it resolved that CB2 Manhattan recommends: 
 
A.  Approval of the front facade restoration above the ground floor; and 
 
 
 



 

 Landmarks 1 – page 5 of 5 

B.  Denial of the design for the ground floor unless the horse walk door is retained, the central 
window is a historic double hung window, the entrance door has historic detailing, and the steps 
are in brownstone and the lower brownstone detailing extends to grade; all of which would to-
gether recreate the original design; and 
 
C.  Approval of the demolition of the non-historic rear wall, the extensions, and excavation of 
the cellar and a portion of the garden, provided that care is taken to do no harm to the building 
or adjacent properties; and 
 
D. Denial of the rear windows and recommends that in their place, the basement and parlor 
floors have a less industrial appearance and that the upper floors and the dormer have windows 
with a clear historical reference. 
 
Vote:  Unanimous 
 
Respectfully Submitted,    

 
Chenault Spence, Chair 
Landmarks & Public Aesthetics Committee 
Community Board #2, Manhattan 
 
 



 

 Landmarks 1: 60 Greene Street - page 1 of 3 

  

Community Board No. 2, Manhattan 
3 Washington Square Village 

NEW YORK, NY 10012-1899 
www.cb2manhattan.org 

P: 212-979-2272 F: 212-254-5102 E: info@cb2manhattan   .org 
Greenwich Village   ❖    Little Italy   ❖    SoHo   ❖    NoHo   ❖   Hudson Square   ❖    Chinatown    ❖    Gansevoort Market 

 
60 Greene Street - Following the Landmarks Committee in which an application for 
modifications to 60 Green Street was heard, public testimony was submitted to the Board 
concerning one aspect of the application.  Based on this well documented testimony, the 
second copy of the resolution below is proposed.  The result is to recommend denial of the 
proposal to replace the wooden infill. 
The changes are in red. 
 
Original resolution approved by Landmarks Committee: 
 
4.  *60 Greene St. - The application is to replace existing ground floor infill, paint ground 
floor to match existing, repair and paint existing handrail and entrance steps. 
 
Whereas: 
 
A.  The building is distinguished, largely intact, and worthy of individual landmark designation, and 
it has an unusually delicate, detailed design especially characterized by a rhythm of repeated infill at 
the ground floor 
 
B.  The proposal is to replace sections of the   ground floor infill including wooden bulkhead at the 
former position of a door with a new cast iron panel to match the existing window bulkheads, to 
paint the railings to match existing and to replace the original configuration of double pane 
windows with single pane plate glass; and 
 
C.  The introduction of a new non-historic, boldly contemporary plate glass window into the 
original wooden infill gravely harms the historic character of the building and interrupts the rhythm 
of the ground floor infill;.and 
 
D.  The applicant’s assertion that it is “impossible” for the shop to show its wares (watches) with 
the divided windows is spurious; and 
 
E.  The applicant represented, without verification, that the wooden infill was deteriorated and that 
it would be replaced with reproductions; and 
 
F.  The store entry door is to be replaced with a reproduction of the existing door to provide greater 
security; now 
 
Therefore be it resolved that CB2 Manhattan recommends: 
 

Jeannine Kiely, Chair 
Susan Kent, First Vice Chair 
Valerie De La Rosa, Second Vice Chair 
Mark Diller, District Manager 

Antony Wong, Treasurer 
Amy Brenna, Secretary 
Ritu Chattree, Assistant Secretary 



 

 Landmarks 1: 60 Greene Street - page 2 of 3 

A.  A forceful denial of replacing the historic divided ground floor windows in three bays with 
single panes of plate glass, which destroy the repeated rhythm of the ground floor; and  
 
B.  Approval of the replacement of the wooden infill with a faithful reproduction of the 
existing provided that staff verifies that the condition of the existing infill necessitates the 
replacement and 
 
C.  Approval of  the replacement of the wooden window bulkhead with cast iron to match the 
existing original in other bays; and 
 
D.  Approval of the replacement of the entrance door with a faithful reproduction of the 
existing door and of the painting of the new doors and railings to match existing.   
 
Unanimous 
 
 
Proposed revised resolution from written public testimony to the board subsequent to the 
committee meeting: 
 
4.  *60 Greene St. - The application is to replace existing ground floor infill, paint ground 
floor to match existing, repair and paint existing handrail and entrance steps. 
 
Whereas: 
 
A.  The building is distinguished, largely intact, and worthy of individual landmark designation,  
and it has an unusually delicate, detailed design especially characterized by a rhythm of repeated 
infill at the ground floor 
 
B.  The proposal is to replace sections of the   ground floor infill including wooden bulkhead at the 
former position of a door with a new cast iron panel to match the existing window bulkheads, to 
paint the railings to match existing and to replace the original configuration of double pane 
windows with single pane plate glass; and 
 
C.  The introduction of a new non-historic, boldly contemporary plate glass window into the 
original wooden infill gravely harms the historic character of the building and interrupts the rhythm 
of the ground floor infill; and 
 
D.  The applicant’s assertion that it is “impossible” for the shop to show its wares (watches) with 
the divided windows is spurious; and 
 
E.  The applicant represented, without verification, that the wooden infill was deteriorated and that 
it would be replaced with reproductions; and 
 
F.  There was written testimony with extensive verification submitted to the Board that, apart 
from a small portion of one door, the wooden infill is in good condition and, apart from a 
small portion of one door, does not need to be replaced; and 
 
G.  The store entry door is to be replaced with a reproduction of the existing door to provide greater 
security; now 
 
Therefore be it resolved that CB2 Manhattan recommends: 
 



 

 Landmarks 1: 60 Greene Street - page 3 of 3 

A.  A forceful denial of replacing the historic divided ground floor windows in three bays with 
single panes of plate glass, which destroy the repeated rhythm of the ground floor; and  
 
B. Denial of the replacement of the wooden infill based on a report that the wood is in good 
condition except for a small portion of one door which may be repaired; and 
 
C.  Approval of the replacement of the wooden window bulkhead with cast iron to match the 
existing original in other bays; and 
 
D.  Denial of the replacement of the entrance unless it if verified by staff that the existing door 
is unsatisfactory and if it is found to be in need of replacement that the door with a faithful 
reproduction of the existing door and of the painting of the new doors and railings to match 
existing.   
 
Vote: Unanimous 



 

 Landmarks 2 – page 1 of 3 

  

Community Board No. 2, Manhattan 
3 Washington Square Village 

NEW YORK, NY 10012-1899 
www.cb2manhattan.org 

P: 212-979-2272 F: 212-254-5102 E: info@cb2manhattan   .org 
Greenwich Village   ❖    Little Italy   ❖    SoHo   ❖    NoHo   ❖   Hudson Square   ❖    Chinatown    ❖    Gansevoort Market 

 
The Community Board 2, Manhattan Landmarks and Public Aesthetics Committee held the second of 
two February 2023 meetings February 13th by video conferencing. 
 
Committee Members Present: Chenault Spence (Chair), Valerie De La Rosa, Brian Pape, Zachary 
Roberts, Bo Ricobono, Mostafa Osman 
Board Members Absent with Notice:  Susan Gammie, Eugene Yoo, Anita Brandt 
Public Members Present: Andy Clark, Albert Bennett, Brenden Fitzgerald 
Public Members Absent with notice: None 
Board members: None 
Committee Guests: Anna Marcum (Village Preservation) 
 
 
1.   *875 Washington St. – The application is to install two illuminated hanging blade signs below 
the canopy at Washington Street and the 14th Street, install new metal louvers and illuminated 
signs in front of and within the existing glass transoms at Washington Street and 14th Street, 
replace the existing storefront bay at the freight elevator, with a new brick wall painted to match 
existing. 
 
Whereas: 
 
A.  The premises is the entire Washington Street facade with portions on 13th and 14th Streets; and 
 
B.  The side of the freight elevator is to be infilled with brick matching the upper floors with a painted 
logo on the brick matching a similar infill in another business in the building; and 
 
C.  The transom windows are to be fitted with dimensional “louvers” with individual illuminated, 
dimmable lettering and the company logo above the entrances on Washington and 14th Streets. 
 
D.   Two hanging signs beneath the sheds, one on 14th Street and one on Washington Street  4’ X 18” 
and 3” thick with interior, dimmable illumination, represented by the applicant as being of size and 
design similar to other signs in the immediate neighborhood; now 
 
Therefore be it resolved that CB2 recommends approval of this application as harmonious with 
the building and the neighborhood. 
 
Vote:  Unanimous  

Jeannine Kiely, Chair 
Susan Kent, First Vice Chair 
Valerie De La Rosa, Second Vice Chair 
Mark Diller, District Manager 

Antony Wong, Treasurer 
Amy Brenna, Secretary 
Ritu Chattree, Assistant Secretary 



 

 Landmarks 2 – page 2 of 3 

2.  *17 W. 9th St. -Application is to restore front façade stoop and entrance, enlarge rear façade 
windows, replace existing two top floor extensions at existing rear ‘L’ addition, add elevator and 
stair bulkhead, extend chimneys, remove roof skylight, add roof railings, and lower rear yard to 
align with lowered basement level.  
 
Whereas: 
 
A.  The front facade windows are to be replaced in kind, through wall air conditioner window 
units will be removed and the masonry will be restored; and 
 
B.  A stoop with typical stairs, a surround recalling the curved lintels of the windows above and 
wooden door with small windows complement the facade with a welcome restoration of the original 
style entrance; and 
 
C.  The reintroduction of the stoop necessitates certain changes to the areaway together with other 
small modifications and the iron work will be restored; and 
 
D.  The roof will have an elevator bulkhead, stair bulkhead, mechanical equipment, and glass railings 
in the front and back and only the front railing is visible from a public thoroughfare; and 
 
E.  A non-visible skylight, much modified and not original to the building, is to be removed; and 
 
F.  The glass railing is out of harmony with the building and the district, and a metal railing would be 
less obtrusive and much preferable; and 
 
G. There is a window wall giving onto the enclosed garden on the basement level, a glass wall at the 
parlor floor, and plate glass in the original punched openings in the exposed portion of the upper 
floors; and, 
 
H.  The two additional floors above the existing extension are glass with bronze framing and the 
original rear wall is preserved and is visible within the addition; and 
 
H.  The rear of the basement together with the garden are to be lowered 3’; and 
 
J.  The cellar is to be excavated approximately 5’ and there was no indication that excavation is 
required; now 
 
Therefore be it resolved that CB2 Manhattan recommends: 
 
A.  Approval of the front facade restoration, the entrance and stairs, and areaway modifications; and 
 
B.  Approval of the rear facade modifications and the windows on the lower floors; and 
 
C.  Approval of the modest amount of excavation provided that if underpinning of the neighboring 
properties is required that it conform to all regulations and be done with the greatest of care to avoid 
any damage to the house or the neighbors. 
 
D.  Approval in this exceptional case, of the plate glass in the upper floor punched openings to 
harmonize with the glass below and in the “L”addition; and 



 

 Landmarks 2 – page 3 of 3 

E.  Approval of the addition to the “L” with special commendation that the   rear wall is visible within 
the glass rooms. 
 
Vote: Unanimous 
 
Respectfully Submitted,  

 
 
 
 
 

Chenault Spence, Chair 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

COMMUNITY BOARD NO.  2,  MANHATTAN 
3  WASHINGTON SQUARE V ILLAGE  

NEW YORK ,  NY  10012-1899 
w w w . c b 2 m a n h a t t a n . o r g  

P :  212-979-2272  F :  212-254-5102  E :  info@cb2manhattan.org 
Greenwich Village   v    Little Italy   v    SoHo   v    NoHo   v   Hudson Square   v    Chinatown    v    Gansevoort Market 

 

Quality of Life – page 1 of 2 
 

Jeannine Kiely, Chair 
Susan Kent, First Vice Chair 
Valerie De La Rosa, Second Vice Chair 
Mark Diller, District Manager 

Antony Wong, Treasurer 
Amy Brenna, Secretary 

Ritu Chattree, Assistant Secretary 

QUALITY OF LIFE COMMITTEE 
          

February 2023 
          
The Quality of Life Committee of Community Board #2, Manhattan held its monthly meeting on 
Monday, February 6th, 2023, at 5:30 p.m. via Zoom. 
 
Committee Members Present:  William Benesh (Chair), Susan Kent, Brian Pape, Michael 
Levine, Rocio Sanz, Wayne Kawadler, Ed Ma, Zachary Roberts 
 
Public Members Present: Johanna Lawton, Karen Eckhoff 
 
Committee Members Absent with Notification: None 
 
Public Member Absent with Notification: None 
  
Other CB2 Members Present: None 
 
Street Activity Applications 
 
 

1. 3/17/23 – 3/18/23 – BioTrue EyeDrops Sampling (sponsor: Bausch Lomb): Astor 
Place Plaza (South) [Pedestrian Plaza] 

 
Whereas, the applicant did not appear on behalf of this application and the committee was 
unable to hear the particulars of this event; now 
 
Therefore Be It Resolved that CB2 Manhattan recommends denial of BioTrue EyeDrops 
Sampling (sponsor: Bausch Lomb): Astor Place Plaza (South) [Pedestrian Plaza].  
 

 
2. 3/25/23 – 4.23.23 – Glow Recipe Double Decker Bus: Broadway between Prince St. 

and Spring St.  
 
Whereas, the applicant did not appear on behalf of this application and the committee was 
unable to hear the particulars of this event; and 
 



 
 

Quality of Life – page 2 of 2 
 

Whereas, the CB2 Quality of Life committee learned that notice to attend the February 
committee meeting had not been properly communicated to the applicant; now 
 
Therefore Be It Resolved that CB2 Manhattan recommends that Glow Recipe Double Decker 
Bus: Broadway between Prince St. and Spring St. be laid over for review next month. 
 
 
FYI/Renewal: 
 

3. 3/17/23 – 12/31/23 – Old Cathedral Outdoor Market (sponsor: St. Patrick’s Old 
Cathedral Basilica): Prince St. between Mott St. and Mulberry St. [Partial Sidewalk 
Closure] 
 

Whereas, this event has been held continuously for many years and no recent complaints have 
been received; now 
 
Therefore Be It Resolved that CB2 Manhattan recommends approval of this renewal 
application provided that the application conforms with all applicable laws, rules, and 
regulations—including any and all COVID related orders and/or restrictions—and clearance 
requirements. 
 
Vote: Adopted unanimously 
 
 
 
Respectfully submitted, 
 
William Benesh, Chair 



 

COMMUNITY BOARD NO. 2, MANHATTAN 
3 WASHINGTON SQUARE VILLAGE 

NEW YORK, NY 10012-1899 
www.cb2manhattan.org 

P: 212-979-2272 F: 212-254-5102 E: info@cb2manhattan.org 
Greenwich Village   !    Little Italy   !    SoHo   !    NoHo   !   Hudson Square   !    Chinatown    !    Gansevoort Market 

 

 
 

Human Services – page 1 of 4  

Jeannine Kiely, Chair 
Susan Kent, First Vice Chair 
Valerie De La Rosa, Second Vice Chair 
Mark Diller, District Manager 
 

Antony Wong, Treasurer 
Amy Brenna, Secretary 
Ritu Chattree, Assistant Secretary 

The Human Services Committee of Community Board No. 2, Manhattan held its regular monthly 
meeting on January 25, 2023, at 6:30pm by Zoom videoconference. 
 
Committee Members Present: Susanna Aaron (Chair), William Benesh, Keen Berger, John Paul 
DeVerna, Wayne Kawadler, Ivy Kwan Arce, Ryder Kessler  
Committee Members Absent With Notice: Adam Zeldin (Vice Chair), Ritu Chattree, 
Other CB2 Members Present:  Jeannine Kiely (Chair), Mark Diller (District Manager), Carter 
Booth, Donna Raftery 
Public Members Present: Rachel Yarmolinsky 
 
Guest: 
Kelsey Louie, Chief Executive Officer of The Door and Broome Street Academy 
 
REPORT: 

1) The Door 
Trends at The Door: 
-Increased demand for mental health services: this could be indicative of reduced stigma around 
mental health. But could also indicate that there are simply many more people needing it. Loss, 
trauma, anxiety, depression. Effect of isolation and lack of social skills. More altercations among 
youngsters in Broome Street Academy.  
-More needs for job support. Attribute that to young people needing to support their families.  
-Food pantry: Young people providing for their families. Requests for multiple meals.  
-Increase of young people’s burden at home: increased absences at school if a student’s sibling, 
say, has a doctor appointment.  
-Immigration work: The Door has 25 lawyers and 20 additional staff members to support legal 
work. All speak at least two languages. They are essentially a mid-size law firm – and 95% of 
work is on immigration, and that has been increasing over the last four years, and especially this 
year, thanks to the flood of asylum seekers.  
-Loss of clientele and increasing return post-pandemic: The number of discrete visits before the 
pandemic was 11,000 per year; in the last two years it has been lower, closer to 7,500 per year, 
though it has been creeping back up. At the same time, demand for certain services has 
increased: legal, food, pantry, and mental health. Remote services have enabled The Door to 
reach some young people who would not otherwise come in, but the essential model is in-person 
Center Space that allows young people to drop into The Door without an appointment for a 
specific service. A waiting list at Broome Academy and at The Door has shrunk.  



 

 Human Services – page 2 of 4  

 
Budget implications: 
-These trends have increased our workload. We have managed to shift budget monies where we 
are able to. Some donors and foundations have asked to help on our priorities. We partner with 
Trinity Church Wall Street, which grants us funds for runaway and homeless youth. They’ve 
since given us an extra grant to help with asylum seekers.  
 
Mental health services: 
-The Door uses “mental health” to describe a range of services, from psychiatric care, to 
medication management, to therapy 45 minutes per week. Also, crisis intervention, community 
health. Mental health issues also get addressed in conversations held through lessons in music, 
origami, and other group sessions.  
-The mental health clinic currently receives about 3,000 visits per year. Medicaid caps 
reimbursements at about 1,000 visits. About 250 patients come for different levels of service, 
whether one-time or continuing.  
-Many mental health services are not being reimbursed by Medicaid. The Door has applied for 
Article 31 status, which would allow more reimbursement, and hence the opportunity to expand 
volume and breadth.  
 
SCOTUS Dobbs decision: 
-The Door has had to run a campaign to explain what Dobbs means and what it doesn’t mean. 
(Abortion remains legal in New York.) The Door has always done options counseling. There is 
anxiety over the government’s ability to take away rights, even beyond abortion.  
 
Runaway and homeless youth: 
-The Door is NYC-designated center for runaway and homeless youth. (Covenant House is 
another.)  
-NYPD or EMT can bring young people to The Door during operating hours (currently until 
6pm).  
-The Door provides laundry, food pantry, dinner, rest, crisis intervention, seeks shelter 
placement.  
-The Door has 99 beds of housing on the Lower East Side.  
-The level of runaway and homeless youth is steady. Approximately 600-800 people each year, 
or a bit less than 10% of total visits.  
 
Some program information 
-The Door serves people age 12-24.  
-The organization is working to bolster partnerships with organizations that can provide 
complementary services.  
-Youth council serves as a community advisory board.  
-Difficult to track transient clients when they don’t return to The Door.  
 
Funding: 
-The school budget is $8 million, about 90% of which comes from the State. The rest of that 
budget is privately funded. Of The Door’s budget of $32 million or so, about $3 million – 10% - 
is Medicaid funding from our health center. 25% is donations from individuals, corporations, or 



 

 Human Services – page 3 of 4  

foundations. The rest is government grants. Government spending is split about 80% NYC, 15% 
NYS, 5% Federal.  
-It receives about $1 million overall from discretionary NYC funds for various programs.  
 
Retroactive contracts: 
-The Door experiences similar difficulties as other organizations because the lag in contract 
reimbursement by NYC is unpredictable. However, its diversified funding portfolio permits it to 
overcome most cash flow problems.  
 
Capital needs: 
-Mental health facility: The Door recently applied for Article 31 mental health license that would 
allow it to expand in terms of scope and volume. Currently, mental health has been provided 
under Article 28 medical license (for the health center) but reimbursement for this is capped at 
30% of visits. An Article 31 will allow us to be reimbursed fully for mental health services. 
We’ve been approved for programmatic design. Now we need approval for our space, which will 
require us to do construction to meet requirements. 
-Building façade: The façade needs repair. The longer this is put off, the more expensive it will 
be. The Door applied to NYC for funding but there is a private foundation on 5th floor, and Fund 
for City of NY is also in the building, disqualifying the building from public funding.  
-Smaller jobs: Improvements needed include plumbing, bathrooms, lighting, etc. 
-Minimal success in seeking city funding has prompted The Door to rely on private funders. 
 
The Door sued by U.S. Attorney 
-Between 2008-2015, The Door overcounted the number of visits to its health center. Medicaid 
reimbursement is based on number of “threshold” visits: a visit is counted as one regardless of 
number of services provided. The Door was filing based on number of services provided.   
-Once this violation was discovered, The Door complied fully and promptly with the U.S. 
Attorney, settling for a fine of $12.9 million.  
-Fine was paid for out of well-invested reserve fund seeded with money from sale of air rights. 
There is some financial burden for the organization, but it has not required any cuts to operations 
or services, and no grant money was diverted to pay the fine.  
-Since the mis-filings, the corporate structure of The Door has been changed and it is no longer a 
subsidiary of University Settlement. Oversight is now stronger. Management has also changed 
more than once since, and employees involved in (inadvertent) false reporting are no longer at 
The Door. The Door has also hired compliance and operating officer; it has hired law firm for 
help with compliance; it has replaced its auditors and will do so every five years as befits best 
non-profit practices; and billed hours are now being validated by an independent outside firm.  
-Kelsey reached out to major donors to explain and reassure. Some donors were upset that the 
organization had been fined at all, as NYS overpayments were funneled back into services and 
not personal gain. Almost every donor remained confident that none of its grant money had been 
diverted to settle this fine. 
 
2) Committee discussion of possible topics for future meetings: 
-Overdose Prevention Centers and the Harm Reduction model of care: Success with its clients, 
success with neighboring communities. 



 

 Human Services – page 4 of 4  

-Diversionary efforts to substitute incarceration with treatment of mental health, homelessness, 
substance use issues. 
-The smell of marijuana that is ever-present on city streets. 
-Medicare and Medicaid policy and its role in shaping access to services for serious mental 
illness. 
 
RESOLUTION  
IN SUPPORT OF THE DOOR’S APPLICATION TO BE CLASSIFIED AN ARTICLE 31 
LICENSED MENTAL HEALTH CLINIC BY NEW YORK STATE OFFICE OF MENTAL 
HEALTH 
 
WHEREAS: 

1) The Door is a social service organization founded in 1972 with a mission to “empower 
young people to reach their potential by providing comprehensive youth development 
services in a diverse and caring environment”; and 

2) The Door provides people aged 12-24 with education, legal expertise, meals and pantry, 
assistance with housing, employment, and many other services; and 

3) The Door provides a broad range of health services as a New York State licensed Article 
28 facility and a Federally Qualified Health Center; and  

4) The Door provides mental health counseling but is reimbursed for these services only to 
the extent permitted under Article 28, and otherwise carries the financial burden through 
its general budget; and 

5) The organization has experienced an increased demand in mental health services of all 
kinds, from psychiatric care to community health, and therefore seeks to expand its 
mental health program; 

6) The Door has applied to be licensed as a behavioral health clinic by the New York State 
Office of Mental Health under Article 31; and 

7) Such license would permit The Door to receive Medicaid reimbursement for the mental 
health services it provides; and 

8) The application requires some modifications to The Door’s physical plant.  
 
THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED THAT COMMUNITY BOARD 2, MANHATTAN 

1) Supports The Door’s application to become an Article 31-licensed mental health facility; 
and  

2) Supports capital grants to enable The Door to modify its physical plant so as to comply 
with Article 31 requirements; and 

3) Recognizes with gratitude the efforts of The Door to improve the lives of young people 
residing in New York City, both in and outside Community District 2.  

 
VOTE: UNANIMOUS IN FAVOR 
 



 

COMMUNITY BOARD NO. 2, MANHATTAN 
3 WASHINGTON SQUARE VILLAGE 

NEW YORK, NY 10012-1899 
www.cb2manhattan.org 

P: 212-979-2272 F: 212-254-5102 E: info@cb2manhattan.org 
Greenwich Village   !    Little Italy   !    SoHo   !    NoHo   !   Hudson Square   !    Chinatown    !    Gansevoort Market 

 

 

Jeannine Kiely, Chair 
Susan Kent, First Vice Chair 
Valerie De La Rosa, Second Vice Chair 
Mark Diller, District Manager 
 

Antony Wong, Treasurer 
Amy Brenna, Secretary 
Ritu Chattree, Assistant Secretary 

Edgardo Khafif 
Director 
Raghsa Real Estate / MKF Realty 
950 Third Avenue, Suite 2805 
New York, NY 10022 
 
Re: “Metronome/Climate” Art Wall 
 
Dear Mr. Khafif: 
 
On behalf of Community Board 2/Manhattan (CB2), I write to encourage MKF Realty to join with all 
interested parties to engage in an open discussion concerning the future of the existing public art 
installation known as “Metronome/Climate.” 
 
“Metronome” was originally installed on the north facade of One Union Square South in 1999 and 
expresses the investigation into the nature of time as captured by artists Kristen Jones and Andrew 
Ginzel.  The current iteration of the work, “Metronome/Climate,” continues that investigation with a 
focus on the relationship between time and the impending crisis of climate change. 
 
On June 27, 2022, artists Kristin Jones and Andrew Ginzel presented to the Arts & Institutions 
Committee of Manhattan Community Board 2 (CB2) regarding their proposal to update and transform 
their original work: Metronome /Climate art wall at One Union Square South. 
The artists first made CB2 aware of their efforts to move this project forward in 2019, describing 
challenges to foster a productive good faith discussion between stakeholders that include the One Union 
Square South property owners and the Union Square BID. The artists maintain that, despite best efforts, 
they remain unsuccessful in engaging these parties in a dialogue about moving the project forward. As a 
result, the artists have been unable to make progress on the project. 
 
CB2 supports the artists’ commitment to this work and their re-imagining a new iteration of their previous 
works.  CB2 believes that the appropriate next step is the convening of a meeting that includes the artists, 
the property owners, and representatives of community organizations and stakeholders with the shared 
goal of exploring the artists’ evolving proposal in this signature location.  
 
Sincerely, 
 
 
 
Jeannine Kiely    Ivy Kwan Arce 
Chair, Community Board 2  Chair, CB2 Arts & Institutions Committee 



Page 2 

 

 
Copies:  Hon. Mark Levine, Manhattan Borough President 

Hon. Adrienne Adams, Speaker, NY City Council 
Hon. Carlina Rivera, NY City Council, 2nd District 
 
Hon. Daniel S. Goldman, US House of Representatives, 10th District 
Hon. Brian Kavanagh, NYS Senate, 27th District 
Hon. Deborah J. Glick, NYS Assembly, 66th District 
Hon. Laurie Cumbo, NYC Commissioner of Cultural Affairs 

 
Via Email to ekhafif@mfk-group.com and alan@mfk-group.com  

 



 
 

 Schools & Education – page 1 of 6 

 
COMMUNITY BOARD NO .  2,  MANHATTAN  

3  WASHINGTON SQUARE V ILLAGE  
NEW YORK ,  NY  10012-1899 

www.cb2manhattan.org 
P :  212-979-2272  F :  212-254-5102  E :  info@cb2manhattan.org 

Greenwich Village   v    Little Italy   v    SoHo   v    NoHo   v   Hudson Square   v    Chinatown    v    
Gansevoort Market 

 
SCHOOLS & EDUCATION REPORT & RESOLUTIONS 

February 2023 
  
The Schools & Education Committee held a meeting on Monday, February 6, 2023 at 6:30PM 
via Video Conference.  
  
CB 2 Schools & Education Members Present: Patricia Laraia (Chair), Mar Fitzgerald (Vice 
Chair), Keen Berger, Rich Caccappolo, Cheryl Wu 
 
CB 2 Schools & Education Members Absent w/ Notice: Akeela Azcuy, Matt Metzger,  
 
CB 2 Schools & Education Public Board Members absent w/ Notice: Michael Markowitz, 
Barbara Glassman 
 
Other CB 2 Members Present: Mark Diller (District Manager) 
 
Presenters: Sara Catalinotto - Parents to Improve School Transportation (PIST), Lupe Hernandez 
- Community Organizer for Education & Opportunity for the Office of the Public Advocate 
Public Attendees: Darlene Lutz, Bob Reynolds, Ursula Jong 

 

#1: Resolution on Pupil Transportation 
 

1. Whereas, New York City public schools exist to serve all the city’s Public School students; 
and 

2. Whereas, in accordance with Chancellor’s Regulation A-801, the Department of 
Education (DOE) provides transportation to all eligible New York City students in public, 
charter, and non-public schools. In partnership with the Metropolitan Transit Authority 
(MTA) and our school-age and preschool bus companies, our mission is to ensure safe and 
reliable transportation to and from school; and 

Jeannine Kiely, Chair 
Susan Kent, First Vice Chair 
Valerie De La Rosa, Second Vice Chair 
Mark Diller, District Manager 

Antony Wong, Treasurer 
Amy Brenna, Secretary 

Ritu Chattree, Assistant Secretary 



 
 

 Schools & Education – page 2 of 6 

3. Whereas, 150,000 NYC students attending public, charter, and non-public schools are 
eligible for pupil transportation, including 65,000 students with IEPs and 6000 students in 
temporary housing; and 

4. Whereas, Curb-to-school or specialized bus service is provided to students experiencing 
medical, health, or disability-related conditions or special circumstances prevent them from 
being able to walk or utilize other forms of transportation to get to and from school; and 

5. Whereas, under the DOE Transportation Rights, students should expect Dependable and 
timely school bus service, travel on a school bus that is properly equipped and inspected 
for safety, including an inspection by the NYS Department of Transportation performed 
every six (6) months, and the shortest and safest bus route to minimize travel times to and 
from school; and 

6. Whereas, NY City Council’s 2022 Year In Review1 summarizes its hearing on School 
Bus Transportation Services, with links to the recording of the event and to the existing 
laws on Office of Pupil Transportation (OPT) reporting; and 

7. Whereas, Manhattan Community Board 4 ACES Committee held a public hearing2 on 
school bus service (which included interviews with PIST and OPT), the outcome of which 
was a letter to Mayor Adams, the NYC Comptroller, and others, advising an audit of pupil 
transportation and consideration of expanding non-profit NYCSBUS3; and 

8. Whereas, for a safe environment free from discrimination, harassment, and bullying; in 
accordance with Chancellor’s Regulation A-832 any such incidents should be reported to 
their school’s Respect for All liaison (RFA) or emailed to RespectforAll@schools.nyc.gov 
; and 

9. Whereas, families can report any behavioral or safety incident on the school bus to their 
school for documentation and appropriate follow-up and filing a complaint to initiate an 
unbiased investigation performed by the appropriate investigatory unit or agency; and 
timely resolution of any complaints and/or concerns; and 

10. Whereas, in summer of 2021 and 2022 the DOE, having failed to provide school bus 
service to students mandated for summer/extended school instruction, offered free car 
service for Students with disabilities and students in temporary housing in order to attend 
the Summer Rising program. In summer of 2022 most families were not aware of the 
rideshare options and very few families were able to make use of this accommodation due 
to the lack of communication and numerous technical glitches; and 

11. Whereas, in March 2021, DOE announced a long-term investment in student bus 
transportation in the acquisition of Reliant Transportation and the establishment of the non-
profit organization New York City School Bus Umbrella Services Inc. (NYCSBUS)4 to 
service 950 school-age bus routes annually for the DOE; and 

12. Whereas, in New York City, District 75 schools provide instruction for the most severely 
disabled students in the New York City Public Schools). During the pandemic, Under 
Chapter 683 (a summer 2020 federally funded program that pays Special Education schools 
to provide year-round instruction),  families who depended on summer programs for 
mandated 12-month services, encountered numerous instances of late pick-up, no social 
distancing on minibuses, children dropped off at the wrong location/site, children reported 

 
1 https://iqconnect.lmhostediq.com/iqextranet/view_newsletter.aspx?id=175896&c=NYCCSPK 
2 https://cbmanhattan.cityofnewyork.us/cb4/wp-content/uploads/sites/10/2022/12/19-ACES-letter-to-Mayor-Comptroller-DOE-re-Improving-Student-Busing.pdf 
3 https://comptroller.nyc.gov/reports/final-letter-report-on-the-new-york-city-department-of-educations-compliance-with-local-law-34-of-2019-regarding-reports-on-
school-bus-transportation-services-and-school-bus-delays/ 
4 https://www.nycsbus.com/ 
 



 
 

 Schools & Education – page 3 of 6 

lost for numerous hours and reports of busses with no functioning air conditioning when 
the outside temperatures were well over 80 degrees; and  

13. Whereas, despite numerous promises from OPT that buses would be in place for the first 
day of the 2022-2023 school year, parents reported children not being picked up, children 
being lost, excessively long travel times, wheelchair bound students not being provided 
vehicles with chairlifts, and overcrowded mini buses with no air conditioning or proper 
ventilation5; and 

14. Whereas, under Chapter 683, thousands of families were stranded for almost 3 weeks 
waiting for a bus route to be assigned, missing mandated instruction and other in-person 
services and being forced to pivot to remote learning; and 

15. Whereas, only 40% of NYC families have established New York City Schools Account 
(NYCSA) accounts and the rest were unable to access busing information when in the past, 
OPT sent busing information as a written notice 10 days prior to school starting; and 

16. Whereas, incoming kindergarten families did not have access to busing information since 
NYCSA accounts are only established once the students are enrolled, nor did non-public 
school families, leaving tens of thousands of students stranded without access; and 

17. Whereas, the staffing of bus paraprofessionals is an immense obstacle in the transportation 
of our students leaving many unable to board their assigned bus; and 

18. Whereas, the extent of late, no-show, merged and doubled-up routes in Summer to Fall 
2022 can partly be explained by the shortage of licensed school bus drivers throughout 
New York and other states, a problem that reflects nine years of NYCDOE allowing routes 
to be put out for bid without an Employee Protection Provisions (EPP) compensation 
package for the workers; and 

19. Whereas, in April 2022, New York Appleseed released extensive research briefing6 on the 
history of the New York City Yellow Bus Service and the impact of workers going on 
Strike due to the lack of Employee Protection Provisions (EPP) that is not sustainable under 
the national Bus driver shortage; and 

20. Whereas, Metrocards intended for families and Students in Temporary Housing as well as 
High School students for pupil transportation have not been distributed and are sometimes 
unavailable, leaving students very little choice but to crawl under the turnstile in order to 
get home, making them vulnerable to arrest and incarceration under the  §165.157 Theft of 
Service law, which makes the “intent to obtain…public transportation service without 
payment” punishable up to one year in jail; and 

21. Whereas CECD2 passed Resolution 1948 on 4/12/22 advising MetroCard usage times for 
traveling to and from school and school-related activities be expanded to board a bus or 
enter the subway up to 4 times per day between 5:30 AM and 10:00 PM; and 

22. Whereas, School bus delays spiked this fall to levels higher than any point in the last five 
years, according to figures revealed during a City Council hearing Monday Nov 21, 2022, 
representing a growing hardship for families who depend on yellow buses to get their 
children to school.; and 

23. Whereas, in October 2022, there were nearly 14,500 school bus delays9 lasting an average 
of 41 minutes, a nearly 30% increase in delays; in October 2021 bus shortages left some 

 
5 https://nypost.com/2022/07/23/nyc-students-stuck-on-hot-school-buses-during-heat-wave 
6 https://www.nyappleseed.org/wp-content/uploads/NYA_YellowBusReport_April2022_Final-1.pdf 
7 https://www.nysenate.gov/legislation/laws/PEN/165.15 
8 https://drive.google.com/file/d/1_d9Z0gE39jpLNHftnK9QPSgXz1Ns9ZOo/view?usp=sharing 
9 https://ny.chalkbeat.org/2022/11/21/23472253/nyc-school-bus-delay 



 
 

 Schools & Education – page 4 of 6 

schools without the ability to initiate bus routes for any students for several days, forcing 
families to take time off from work in order to transport their children; and 

24. Whereas, parents have the right to receive information or communicate with a staff 
member at their school or Department of Education (DOE) office in their language 
regarding any and all matters related to transportation; and 

25. Whereas, language barriers and technology constraints place an undue burden on families 
that are already struggling. 
 

A. Therefore, Be It Resolved Community Board 2 Manhattan (CB2) implores the DOE to 
prioritize expanding quality NYCSBUS from the current 950 bus routes in order to service 
the 150,000 students eligible for transportation; 

B. Be It Resolved that CB2 asks that attendance rates be collected on the number of students 
excluded from rightful service due to busing deficiencies, and that those data be made 
public and disaggregated by borough and by district; 

C. Be It Resolved that CB2 ask that OPT actively prioritizes students who require a 
specialized learning classroom environment, particularly students experiencing in 
behavioral challenges and/or safety concerns, for the ‘fewer students on route’ 
accommodation in regards to transportation; 

D. Be It Resolved that CB2 demands a more stringent oversight of OPT practices including 
but not limited to a reporting system of when site visits to bus companies are done, when 
bus inspections and repairs are cataloged, a transparent record of specialized vehicles and 
routes for students in need of ambulatory services, and how many routes are assigned to 
one driver; 

E. Be It Resolved that CB2 ask that a pilot program for the recruitment, training and 
nomination of sub-paras strictly for the use of servicing students in need of bus paras be 
created under the supervision of the District 75 Superintendent to allow a faster expedition 
of the sub para nomination process and allow more parents to apply; 

F. Be It Resolved that CB2 demands that OPT improve training for all drivers and attendants. 
Uniformity in training including first aid, car seats, disability awareness/acceptance, 
bullying, and how to do bus evacuation drills. Update the modules parents created years 
ago; allow parent leaders to vet the training vendors and to do quality control visits or 
presentations to training in progress; 

G. Be It Resolved that CB2 demand a more transparent and accessible complaint system for 
families and schools to report instances of no pickup, maintenance issues, missing children, 
safety concerns, and infractions on safety protocols;  

H. Be It Resolved that CB2 ask for OPT to acknowledge and study the deficiencies that 
occurred during Summer Rising and Chapter 683 and schedule discussions with 
stakeholders on how to staff and problem solve promptly without relying only on a possible 
extension of any car service contract in anticipation of unmet student transportation needs; 

I. Be It Resolved that CB2 ask that OPT maximize climate control on the vehicles, preferably 
with clean HVAC technology that is at least as energy efficient as New York City MTA 
buses used in public transportation; and 

J. Be It Resolved that CB2 ask that OPT shorten the maximum route duration and create 
routes that adhere to them; enforce limited time travel as granted by an IEP; 

K. Be It Resolved that CB2 demands OPT to proactively inform families (thru backpack mail, 
email, social media and information sessions) and schools about transportation rights 



 
 

 Schools & Education – page 5 of 6 

including how to get accommodations; publish the different accommodations available and 
the codes to support the school based transportation liaisons on the Transportation section 
of the DOE website; how to add yellow bus service when changing schools or housing, 
especially for those residing in family residences; how to lodge a complaint; and how to 
seek a variance. We also ask that all forms and information are accessible and available in 
any language the DOE serves; 

L. Be It Resolved that CB2 demands that every student living more than .5 miles from their 
school has access to a monthly unlimited MetroCard for afterschool, mandated internships 
and programs, sports, and other education obligations 

M. Be It Finally Resolved that CB2 demands the creation of a school transportation oversight 
committee made up of parents, paras, and DOE representatives of each sector that is tasked 
with implementing OPT policies and troubleshooting i.e., transportation coordinators, 
routers, principals to mitigate and mediate all concerns related to the functions of OPT. 
 
Vote: Unanimous 

 
 

#2: Resolution to Expand MetroCard Availability, Hours & OMNY Accessibility  
 

1. Whereas, schools distribute student MetroCards to eligible students at the beginning of 
each semester, and as needed during the school year; 

2. Whereas, students can use the school distributed MetroCard at every subway and local bus; 
3. Whereas, student MetroCards are: 
● Distinct and separate from MetroCards sold to the public 
● Only able to be used for three trips each school day; allowing middle and high school 

students to travel to school, from school to an after-school activity, and from that activity 
home 

● Only to be used by the student to whom it was assigned 
● For use for school and school-related activities between 5:30AM and 8:30PM only on days 

when the student’s school is open for classes (generally Monday-Friday) 
● Valid for one school semester; new cards are issued at the beginning of each semester by 

schools 
4. Whereas, many schools hold Saturday classes for academic intervention; academic & 

sporting events and practices are often held on the weekends across the city 
5. Whereas, students and families must absorb any transportation costs for students to travel 

for school-related activities on weekends; 
6. Whereas, many extracurricular activities, especially for high school students, can run 

beyond the current 8:30pm curfew for MetroCard usage, and on weekends; 
7. Whereas, schools have access to one day, two trip MetroCards, that can and be given to 

students for weekend use as needed and required if use of MetroCards cannot be extended 
to the weekends; 

8. Whereas, the logistics and required tracking of two trip MetroCards is an unnecessary 
burden on schools; 



 
 

 Schools & Education – page 6 of 6 

9. Whereas, the phone-based One Metro New York (OMNY) system for mass transit is 
currently not available for student travel. 
 

A. THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, that CB2 urges MetroCard usage times for traveling 
to and from school and school-related activities be expanded to board a bus or enter the 
subway up to 4 times per day between 5:30AM and 10:00PM, every day of the week. 

B. BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, encourages the NYC MTA to enable high school 
students to be allowed to use the new phone-based One Metro New York (OMNY) system 
for their public transportation, enabling them to use school funds for their travel without 
the complication of MetroCards. 

 
Vote: Unanimous 
 
 
Resources & Links: 
 
Parents to Improve School Transportation: https://www.pistnyc.org/resources/school-transportation-from-
temporary-housing-transporte-a-la-escuela-desde-alojamiento-temporal 
NYC DOE Transportation Overview: https://www.schools.nyc.gov/school-life/transportation/transportation-
overview 
NYS Assembly bill A8244: https://legislation.nysenate.gov/pdf/bills/2021/A8244 
New York Appleseed: https://www.nyappleseed.org/ 
MTA Student MetroCards: https://new.mta.info/fares/student-metrocard 
One Metro New York (OMNY) : https://omny.info/ 



 

 
 

 
Parks & Waterfront – page 1 of 5 

 

 

COMMUNITY BOARD NO.  2,  MANHATTAN 
3  WASHINGTON SQUARE V ILLAGE  

NEW YORK ,  NY  10012-1899 
w w w . c b 2 m a n h a t t a n . o r g  

P :  212-979-2272  F :  212-254-5102  E :  info@cb2manhattan.org 
Greenwich Village   v    Little Italy   v    SoHo   v    NoHo   v   Hudson Square   v    Chinatown    v    Gansevoort Market 

 
 

PARKS & WATERFRONT COMMITTEE MEETING 
February 13, 2023 

 
The Parks & Waterfront Committee of Community Board #2, Manhattan held its monthly meeting on 
Monday, February 13, 2022, at 6:30 via Zoom.  
 
The meeting covered two topics:  

1. Opening of NYU Paulson Center 
2. Revisiting discussion of uses of water tunnel lot at 388 Hudson Street. 

 
Board Members Present: Rich Caccappolo (Chair); Chris Dignes; Shirley Secunda; Ritu Chattree; 
Frederica Sigel 
Board Members Absent with Notice: Susanna Aaron (Vice Chair); Matthew Metzger; Kristin Shea; 
Daniel Miller 
Public Members Present: Sharon Woolums; Coral Dawson; Elizabeth Gilmore 
Public Members Absent with Notice:  
Other Board Members Present: Carter Booth; Brian Pape;Donna Raftery; Susan Wittenberg, David 
Gruber; CB2 Board Chair, Jeannine Kiely.  
 
In total, approximately 30 people attended the meeting.  
 
There was one resolution resulting from this meeting. 

  
 
1. Announcement of the opening of NYU’s new Paulson Center 
NYU’s Paulson Center at 181 Mercer Street, the site of the former Coles Gym, is now opening. The 
athletic facility in the building offers memberships and limited multi-use passes for residents of 
Manhattan Community Board 2. The specific features will open according to this schedule: 

o Squash Courts: Opening soon 
o Fencing Salle: Target date February 13 
o Wrestling Room: Target date February 13 
o Pool: Opening soon 
o Workout Room: Opening in March 
o Multi-use Basketball Courts: anticipated opening June 2023 

Jeannine Kiely, Chair 
Susan Kent, First Vice Chair 
Valerie De La Rosa, Second Vice Chair 
Mark Diller, District Manager 

Antony Wong, Treasurer 
Amy Brenna, Secretary 

Ritu Chattree, Assistant Secretary 



 

 
 

 
Parks & Waterfront – page 2 of 5 

 

Details can be found here: 
https://gonyuathletics.com/sports/2022/10/6/membership-
reopening.aspx?utm_source=newsletter&utm_medium=email&utm_content=Spring%202023%20membe
rship%20page&utm_campaign=NYU%20Weekly 
 
2. Discussion of uses of water tunnel site at 388 Hudson Street. 
Our committee discussed the presentation made at our meeting on January 26, 2023, by members of the 
NYC Department of Parks (DPR) and the NYC Department of Environmental Protection (DEP) 
describing a new opportunity for passive open space at 388 Hudson Street that they would like to develop 
in conjunction with the Hudson Square Business Improvement District (BID). The presenters noted 

- The space available is the southern parcel of the full lot at 388 Hudson, comprising 11,375 sf, 
increased from the 9,375 sf easement detailed in the DCP’s 1999 resolution. 

- The northern parcel is currently propsoed to be used to construct a new affordable housing 
building, under the auspices of the Department of Citywide Administrative Services (DCAS).  

- $2.6M has been allocated for developing the southern parcel: $1M from the Mayor and $1.6M 
from the Borough President. In addition, the DPR would like to allocate funds from the Active 
Open Space Special Improvement Fund that is administered by the Hudson Square BID, 
established in the 2013 Hudson Square Restricive Declaration to mitigate the negative impact of 
the Hudson Square rezoning on active open space. 

- The project plan would include a community input meeting, a year-long design process, 
procurement of a contractor for construction, and then construction. The timeline of the full 
project, from the start of scoping to completion, is expected to take roughly three years. 

- The space, when complete, would be similar in terms of features and design to the two other water 
tunnel sites already developed at East 4th at Bowery (Manuel Plaza) and at Grand & Lafayette Sts. 
(Rapkin-Gayle Plaza). 

 
Discussion following the presentation focused on finding a way forward that recognized that answers to 
many questions are still outstanding, ranging from what will actually be built on the northern lot and in 
what time frame; what might be done in the surrounding area to optimize both indoor and outdoor active 
and passive recreation opportunities; and what can be done on the southern lot within the constraints of 
the DEP access requirements. It was suggested that the surrounding neighborhood has changed since an 
initial pledge was made 25 years ago to develop both parcels as open space; and that the desired optimal 
use determined at that time (for example: space for sports leagues) should be reconsidered by the 
community.  
A resolution was written to this end. 
 
 
Respectfully submitted, 
 
 
Rich Caccappolo, 
Chair, Parks & Waterfront Committee 
Community Board 2, Manhattan  
 
 
A Resolution Regarding the Proposal to start a scoping process for the southern section of the lot at 

388 Hudson St 
 



 

 
 

 
Parks & Waterfront – page 3 of 5 

 

Whereas: 
 

HISTORY OF THE SITE 
 

1. In various letters and a 1998 Project Proposal letter, a commitment was made by the DEP to the 
DPR and CB2, to return the entire City Water Tunnel #3 site (25,000sf) at 388 Hudson to the 
community with DEP retaining only an easement for access as needed to maintain the site. 

2. This commitment was the result of substantial advocacy by local community groups including 
Greenwich Village Little League, Downtown United Soccer Club and City-As-School High 
School. CB2, in a December 1998 resolution, supported this plan.   

3. An important consideration for supporting this use was the unmet neighborhood need for places 
for children to play sports. 

4. CB2’s expectations and support were consistent over the next 17 years, but since 1998 access to 
ballfields on the west side of lower Manhattan has increased substantially, with large new fields at 
Pier 40, Chelsea Waterside Park, and Battery Parks City, and with the soon-to-be completed field 
at Gansevoort Peninsula, while a large quantity of new housing units, though no affordable 
housing, has been added to our district. 

5. The 2013 Hudson Square rezoning established an Active Open Fund (Fund) to mitigate the 
negative impact on active open space from new residential development, as defined in a March 
2013 Restrictive Declaration. 

6. In 2015, CB2 passed a resolution stating that it “strongly supports a substantial reduction of the 
amount of promised public open space at the Hudson Street water tunnel shaft site (28b) so 
affordable housing and indoor recreation can be developed there, but only if community open 
space needs are addressed, and specifically, only if Elizabeth Street Garden is preserved as a 
public park;” 

7. In 2016, CB2 passed a resolution urging “the New York City Department of Housing and 
Preservation Development to convene and co-lead with Community Board 2 a Task Force to 
consider all possible sites and to establish and achieve bold goals for development of new 
affordable housing in the District;” 

8. This full site has been split into two sections (north and south) as outlined in a 2017 Memo Of 
Understanding (MOU) between DEP and DPR. The MOU states that the northern section would 
revert to the City’s Department of Citywide Administrative Services (DCAS) when the water-
tunnel construction project was completed. 

9. In the August 2018 Department of City Planning (DCP) resolution supporting expansion of the 
Hudson Square Business Improvement District (BID) north to Clarkson Street, the City mandated 
the creation of an Active Open Space Special Improvement Fund which would be funded by a 
one-time assessment by each property that was new, converted or enlarged in the Special Hudson 
Square District on or after March 20, 2013. That 2018 DCP resolution allowed the Hudson Square 
BID to manage these funds as the DMA (District Management Association). Allocation of these 
funds would be determined by the New York City Department of Parks and Recreation for active 
recreation uses.  That fund totals roughly $5.7 million as of June 30, 2022. 

10. In January 2019, CB2 passed a resolution stating that it encouraged “the City to reconsider the 
Alternative Site at 388 Hudson Street because it could support four to five times more Senior AH 
[Affordable Housing] and preserve Elizabeth Street Garden, but because 388 Hudson Street was 
promised a park for nearly 20 years,  CB2 would support switching 388 Hudson from park to 
affordable housing use only if the Garden is preserved in its entirety”. 

 
 



 

 
 

 
Parks & Waterfront – page 4 of 5 

 

 
CURRENT CONDITIONS 

 
11. The complete site is now ready to be returned to the community. Currently, it is surrounded by 

fencing and the southern parcel (11,375sf) is clear except for the DEP access points and air vents 
which require permanent access for maintenance and in case of emergency. This places constraints 
on uses of the space. 

12. NYC, Borough President Mark Levine and CB2 have previously identified the northern section 
for affordable housing, though no definitive plans have been shared with CB2 to date. 

13. On January 26, 2023, the DPR appeared before our committee and proposed starting a scoping 
process for the southern section of the lot. 

14. The DPR noted that the Mayor and Borough President have already allocated $2.6M of funding 
for this project--separate from the Active Open Space Special Improvement Fund (AOSSIF)--
though the DPR feels the project would qualify to receive additional funding from the AOSSIF for 
development. 

15. The DPR suggested that the open space on the southern parcel, when complete, would be similar 
in terms of features and design to the two other water tunnel sites already completed at East 4th at 
Bowery and Grand & Lafayette. 

16. The DPR reminded CB2 of the constraints on development of the space, due to DEP requiring 
unfettered access to vents, access stairs and standing pipes. 

17. DPR noted that the full project, from the start of scoping to development completion, can be 
expected to take roughly three years. 

18. DPR representatives were unable to definitively answer whether the full site (northern and 
southern parcels) might someday become available as one contiguous open space; whether open 
space on the southern parcel could be effectively designed without knowing future plans for the 
northern parcel; whether the monies that the BID administers are permitted to be used for passive 
(not active) recreation.  

19. The closing of the Tony Dapolito Recreation Center--always a compromised facility for indoor 
recreation, and now closed with no sure date for re-opening—has increased the need for a new 
indoor recreation center.  

 
Therefore, be it Resolved that CB 2, Manhattan supports starting the scoping of the southern area at 
388 Hudson for what is likely to be a passive open space, though we believe that outdoor and/or indoor 
space for active recreation is still required in our park-starved neighborhood, but seeks clarification on the 
following items in a timely manner:  
 
1. Reevaluation of the best uses for the full site at 388 Hudson. 
2. Consultation with DEP to determine the actual extent of the area needed for its access.    
3. Clarification of the use limitations of the Active Open Space Special Improvement Fund: Is it only 

able to be used for active recreation spaces or also for open space improvements more generally? 
4. Specification of other potential receiving sites for the Active Open Space Special Improvement 

Fund in the Hudson Square Rezoning Final Environment Impact Study (FEIS) area.  
5. A “master plan” for the entire area, including the block where the Tony Dapolito Recreation 

Center and James J Walker Field stand. 
 

Be it further resolved that CB2 recommends that recognizing the access required by DEP on the southern 
parcel, the design include as many active uses as possible, including for example, temporary structures 
allowing for activities such as pickleball, basketball, or skateboarding.  



 

 
 

 
Parks & Waterfront – page 5 of 5 

 

 
Be it further resolved that any scoping include outreach to and the involvement of local residents, local 
school communities -- including the adjacent City-As-School High School and M721, Manhattan 
Occupational Training Center -- and local businesses.  

 
 

 VOTE: 11 in favor, 2 against (C. Dawson, K. Shea) 
 
 




